
Millions of yen, except Per Share Data and Selected Financial Indicators Millions of yen, except Per Share Data and Selected Financial Indicators
Thousands of U.S. dollars, 

except Per Share Data 
(Note 1)

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 (Note 6) 2023 2024 2024

For the Year:
Revenues ¥	163,295 ¥	162,906 ¥	192,876 ¥	145,502 ¥	164,015 ¥	139,542 ¥	139,572 ¥	119,633 ¥	121,140 ¥	121,873 $	 804,972

Space Business 53,388 54,600 87,749 50,400 73,389 53,534 58,929 59,500 62,154 64,750 427,675

Media Business 122,246 120,416 116,777 105,799 101,496 97,646 91,599 70,448 68,733 66,529 439,423

Cost of Services 104,175 101,640 130,594 92,202 111,316 90,188 87,047 68,303 69,058 66,690 440,487

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses 39,492 37,056 37,848 37,648 37,408 34,091 33,373 32,467 29,758 28,637 189,149

Operating Profit 19,628 24,210 24,434 15,652 15,291 15,263 19,152 18,863 22,324 26,546 175,336

Space Business 17,830 18,612 20,528 13,138 13,430 12,902 13,830 15,868 19,151 22,799 150,585

Media Business 2,433 6,242 4,572 3,233 2,529 3,076 5,996 3,741 3,863 4,402 29,080

Profit before Income Taxes 20,363 24,292 24,297 17,244 15,515 15,492 19,888 20,276 23,123 26,259 173,443

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Parent 13,516 16,868 17,415 11,353 9,682 12,027 13,345 14,580 15,810 17,739 117,167

Comprehensive Income 14,662 11,209 17,870 11,415 9,764 11,832 11,687 16,424 18,930 26,222 173,196

EBITDA (Note 2) 44,503 46,670 47,725 43,033 40,743 41,531 45,268 44,179 45,562 47,971 316,852

Depreciation and Amortization 22,868 20,694 21,541 23,494 22,514 23,317 23,323 22,161 21,165 20,232 133,630

Amortization of Goodwill 878 878 878 878 878 878 878 878 67 — —

Capital Expenditures 40,377 26,266 16,177 15,940 23,834 19,533 13,038 7,512 16,755 16,426 108,493

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 16,634 24,806 7,030 22,546 25,898 28,880 57,949 36,507 57,631 42,404 280,079

Cash Flows from Investing Activities (34,748) (28,804) (22,883) (27,213) (33,469) (20,826) (11,358) (7,737) (16,870) (15,385) (101,619)

Free Cash Flows (Note 3) (18,114) (3,998) (15,853) (4,667) (7,571) 8,054 46,591 28,770 40,761 27,019 178,460

Cash Flows from Financing Activities (12,079) 18,587 13,469 4,866 9,362 (12,516) (16,879) (16,405) (19,423) (21,099) (139,356)

At Year-End:
Cash and Cash Equivalents ¥	 33,963 ¥	 48,558 ¥	 46,151 ¥	 46,305 ¥	 48,090 ¥	 43,603 ¥	 73,194 ¥	 85,914 ¥	107,909 ¥	114,322 $	 755,099

Total Assets 282,517 319,224 359,485 359,344 376,102 378,367 385,568 378,167 399,055 405,411 2,677,748

Interest-Bearing Debt 38,366 64,138 82,753 92,767 108,086 102,443 90,959 85,352 73,548 65,809 434,676

Net Assets 195,640 200,512 213,909 219,635 224,015 228,943 235,315 243,077 256,815 271,983 1,796,452
Yen Yen U.S. dollars

Per Share Data (Yen and U.S. dollars)
Earnings Per Share ¥	 43.85 ¥	 55.39 ¥	 58.64 ¥	 38.22 ¥	 32.60 ¥	 40.49 ¥	 44.92 ¥	 49.52 ¥	 54.44 ¥	 61.69 $	 0.41

Total Equity Per Share 634.20 661.80 709.14 729.48 745.26 767.69 788.27 833.58 879.33 953.99 6.30

Dividends Per Share 12.00 14.00 18.00 18.00 18.00 18.00 18.00 18.00 20.00 21.00 0.14
% %

Selected Financial Indicators (%)
Operating Margin 12.0 14.9 12.7 10.8 9.3 10.9 13.7 15.8 18.4 21.8

EBITDA Margin 27.3 28.6 24.7 29.6 24.8 29.8 32.4 36.9 37.6 39.4

Equity Ratio (Note 4) 69.2 61.6 58.6 60.3 58.9 60.3 60.8 64.0 64.0 66.7

ROE (Note 5) 6.9 8.6 8.3 5.2 4.4 5.3 5.7 6.0 6.2 6.6

ROA 6.9 8.0 7.3 4.6 4.5 4.3 5.3 5.3 6.0 6.7

Dividend Payout Ratio 27.4 25.3 30.7 47.1 55.2 44.4 40.1 36.3 36.7 34.0

Notes: 1. �U.S. dollar amounts are included solely for the convenience of readers outside Japan and have been made at the rate of ¥151.40 to $1, the 
approximate rate of exchange at March 31, 2024.

2. �EBITDA is calculated using the following formula: Profit Attributable to Owners of the Parent + Income Taxes + Depreciation and Amortization + 
Amortization of Goodwill + Interest Expense.

3. Free Cash Flows are calculated using the following formula: Cash Flows from Operating Activities + Cash Flows from Investing Activities.
4. Non-controlling interests are excluded from equity in calculating Equity Ratio.

5. Non-controlling interests are excluded from equity in calculating ROE.
6. �The Accounting Standard for Revenue Recognition (ASBJ Statement No. 29, March 31, 2020; hereinafter “Revenue Recognition 

Standard”) and other standards are applied from the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022. Financial position and results of operation for the 
fiscal year ended March 31, 2022, onwards are presented in figures after applying the said Accounting Standard, etc.

SKY Perfect JSAT Holdings Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Years ended March 31

Consolidated Financial Highlights

96 97SKY Perfect JSAT
Integrated Report 2024

SKY Perfect JSAT
Integrated Report 2024

D
ata S

ection/Financial S
ection



Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Operating Environment
The Japanese economy gradually recovered during the 
fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, as employment and 
income conditions improved.

As for the operating environment for SKY Perfect 
JSAT Group (the “Group”), the Space Business witnessed 
an expansion in demand for the mobile satellite communi-
cations for vessels and aircraft and utilization of satellite 
data across a wide variety of fields. Moreover, the busi-
ness environment has been undergoing substantial 
changes, including the full-scale launch of a communica-
tions service using low Earth orbit satellite constellations, 
as well as intensifying prices and service competition.

In the Media Business, the market environment con-
tinues to be difficult, with negative growth in the pay TV 
broadcast market and strategic alliance-making and ser-
vice collaborations between operators in the video 
streaming services market.

Performance Overview
Given these conditions, the consolidated financial results 
of the Group for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, 
were as follows.

Category
Previous

fiscal year
(millions of yen)

Fiscal year
ended March 31,

2024
(millions of yen)

Change
(millions of yen)

Change
(%)

Operating Revenues 121,140 121,873 733 0.6

Operating Profit 22,324 26,546 4,222 18.9

Ordinary profit 23,194 27,128 3,934 17.0

Profit before Income 
Taxes 23,123 26,259 3,137 13.6

Profit attributable to 
owners of the parent 15,810 17,739 1,929 12.2

Financial Position
Total assets amounted to ¥405.4 billion, an increase of 
¥6.4 billion compared to the end of the previous consoli-
dated fiscal year (hereinafter, “year on year”).

Current assets increased by ¥2.4 billion year on year 
due to an increase of ¥6.4 billion in cash and cash equiva-
lents and ¥3.5 billion in advance payments to suppliers 
related to the purchase of satellite imagery, despite a fall of 
¥4.8 billion in accounts receivable–trade resulting from the 
collection of receivables related to the X-Band business.

Property and equipment, software, and goodwill 
declined by ¥3.8 billion year on year; this was in large part 
due to depreciation and amortization equal to ¥20.2 billion, 
despite a lift in capital expenditures of ¥16.4 billion.

Investments and other assets, excluding software and 
goodwill, increased by ¥7.8 billion year on year, mainly 
due to a ¥14.1 billion rise in investment securities due to 
the impact of acquiring an interest in Horizons-4 Satellite 
LLC and the market values of listed shares held.

Total liabilities came to ¥133.4 billion, down ¥8.8 billion 
year on year.

The main factors were a ¥2.8 billion increase in 
unearned revenues, a ¥7.7 billion drop in interest-bearing 
debt due to repayment of loans, etc., related to the 
X-Band and Horizons 3e businesses, and a ¥4.0 billion 
decrease in accounts payable.

Total equity, including non-controlling interests, 
increased by ¥15.2 billion from year on year, mainly due to 
an increase of ¥11.7 billion in retained earnings arising 
from the recording of profit attributable to owners of the 
parent and an increase of ¥7.2 billion in unrealized gain on 
available-for-sale securities, despite the acquisition of ¥5.0 
billion of treasury stock.

 As a result, the equity ratio was 66.7%, up 2.7 points 
year on year.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flows
Cash flows from operating activities for the current con-
solidated fiscal year were an inflow of ¥42.4 billion, com-
pared to an inflow of ¥57.6 billion in the previous fiscal 
year. This was mainly due to profit before income taxes, 
depreciation totaling ¥46.5 billion; there was also a 
decrease in accounts receivable-trade and affiliated com-
panies of ¥4.6 billion and an increase in deferred revenues 
of ¥2.8 billion; these were offset by a ¥3.5 billion increase 
in advance payments to suppliers, a ¥3.9 billion decrease 
in accounts Payable—trade and affiliated companies, and 
¥8.4 billion in income tax paid.

Cash flows from investing activities comprised an 
outflow of ¥15.4 billion, compared to an outflow of ¥16.9 
billion in the previous fiscal year. This was mainly owing 
to the payments for the purchases of property and equip-
ment and intangible fixed assets of ¥15.4 billion, the 
proceeds from collection of loans receivable related to 
the Horizons 3e business worth ¥3.8 billion, and the 
payments for additional acquisition of shares of affiliated 
companies for investment in Horizons-4 Satellite LLC of 
¥3.6 billion.

Cash flows from financing activities consisted of an 
outflow of ¥21.1 billion, compared to ¥19.4 billion in the 
previous fiscal year. This was mainly owing to the pro-
ceeds from long-term loans payable of ¥1.0 billion, the 
repayments of long-term loans payable of ¥10.9 billion, 
the purchase of treasury shares of ¥ 5.0 billion, and divi-
dends paid of ¥6.1 billion.

As a result of the above, cash and cash equivalents as 
of March 31, 2024, amounted to ¥114.3 billion, up ¥6.4 
billion year on year.

Capital Expenditure
In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, the Group made 
capital expenditures totaling ¥16.4 billion. The spending 
was allocated mainly to procuring facilities for satellite 
communications, etc., in the Space Business and upgrad-
ing broadcasting and distribution facilities in the Media 
Business.

Finance
There was no new financing during the fiscal year ended 
March 31, 2024.

Performance Forecasts
In the Space Business, the space industry market is 
expanding globally, and competition in the satellite com-
munications business is intensifying as new operators 
enter the space business and telecommunications ser-
vices using large constellations of low-Earth orbit satellites 
are fully deployed. In this environment, we aim to 
strengthen our competitiveness and increase earnings by 
expanding the provision of high-speed, high-capacity tele-
communications services for growing markets, such as 
internet use on ships and aircraft. In addition, we aim to 
increase earnings by promoting business alliances with 
Earth-observation satellite operators and other companies 
to strengthen our satellite imagery sales service. 
Furthermore, in collaboration with Space Compass and 
other partners, we aim to build an ICT infrastructure in 
space that incorporates HAPS-based communication net-
works, optical communication technology, and space 
computing technology.

Revenues

(Years ended March 31) (Years ended March 31)

Total AssetsSelling, General, and 
Administrative Expenses

Total equityOperating Profit Equity RatioProfit Attributable to 
Owners of the Parent
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2022 2022 2022 2022

119,633 32,467

18,863

14,580

2023 2023 2023 2023

121,140
29,758 22,324

15,810

2024 2024 2024 2024

121,873

28,637

26,546 17,739

2020 2020 2020 2020

450,000

300,000

150,000

0

(Millions of yen)

300,000

200,000

100,000

0

80

60

40

20

0

(Millions of yen) (%)

2020 2020 20202021 2021 2021

378,367
228,943 60.3

385,568
235,315 60.8

2022 2022 2022

378,167
243,077 64.0

2023 2023 2023

399,055
256,815 64.0

2024 2024 2024

405,411 271,983
66.7
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

In the media business, the market environment is 
changing rapidly due to intensifying competition with 
domestic and foreign video distribution services for 
content and customers, as well as the merger and 
acquisition of domestic distribution companies, the SKY 
PerfecTV service cannot avoid a decline in the number 
of subscribers simply by taking various measures that 
are extensions of the existing ones. In this environ-
ment, it is important to implement “fan marketing” 
tailored to the tastes of fans for each of the various 
content genres and to continue to provide a customer 
experience that is unique to “SKY PerfecTV!.” In addi-
tion, we will continue to expand sales of retransmission 
services of terrestrial digital, BS digital, and other ser-
vices provided over optical communication lines, includ-
ing alliances with various cable television operators, 
while expanding the service area.

The total number of subscribers for the three SKY 
PerfecTV! services in fiscal 2024 is expected to be as 
shown in the table below.

(thousands)

Net increase in number Total subscribers

IC card Number of 
subscribers IC card Number of 

subscribers

FY2024 (target)* (150) (138) 2,591 1,996

FY2023 (135) (127) 2,740 2,134

*As of March 2025

The number of households served by optical retrans-
mission service is projected to be 2,833,000 (2,747,000 
in fiscal 2023).

In terms of consolidated financial results for fiscal 
year 2024, we project revenues of ¥123.3 billion (up 
1.2% year on year), operating profit of ¥25.8 billion 
(down 2.8% year on year), ordinary profit of ¥26.2 billion 
(down 3.4% year on year), and profit attributable to own-
ers of parent of ¥18.0 billion (up 1.5% year on year).

For fiscal 2024, we project the annual dividend per 
share to be ¥22.

(Note) The future performance and projections contained within the 
aforementioned future forecast are based on the Company management’s 
determinations in light of the currently available information. Actual results 
may differ from the forecast figures due to a number of factors. If a change 
in circumstances necessitates revisions to the earnings forecast, we will 
promptly disclose these revisions.

Dividend Policy and Return to Shareholders
Our Articles of Incorporation include the provision that 
the Board of Directors can resolve to pay dividends from 
surpluses, etc., as provided in Article 459, Paragraph 1 of 
the Companies Act. Our policy regarding the exercise of 
these rights is as follows.

The Group maintains a long-term and comprehensive 
approach to shareholder return as an important manage-
ment priority. Our aim is to pay stable dividends while 
retaining sufficient internal reserves to fund our aggres-
sive business development plans. Our policy is to deter-
mine cash dividend amounts for the interim dividend and 
the year-end dividend twice a year following extensive 
consideration of our financial position, level of earnings, 
payout ratio and so forth, and to maintain an annual divi-
dend of at least ¥16 per share and a payout ratio of at 
least 30%.

For the year-end dividend for the 17th term, in addi-
tion to the interim dividend of ¥10 per share issued with 
an effective date of December 4, 2023, the Board of 
Directors has resolved at a meeting on April 26, 2024, to 
pay a dividend of ¥11 per share as a year-end dividend. 
As a result, the annual dividend for the 17th term will be 
¥21 per share.

Risks Related to Satellite Infrastructure
[1] �Risks Concerning Lower Competitiveness in  

the Satellite Communications Market
Risk Owner:
Unit President of Space Business Unit, SKY Perfect JSAT 
Corporation

Risk Status:
Owing to the recent development and low cost of terres-
trial channels, the progress of new communication net-
works in the 5th Generation Mobile Communication 
System (5G) era, the launch of new satellite communica-
tions services using low-Earth-orbit satellites, etc., and 
the introduction of high-throughput satellites and high-ca-
pacity communications satellites with fully digital 
onboard communications equipment, the supply of tele-
communications in general, and satellite communications 
in particular is increasing globally every year.

Price competition from competitors is expected to 
continue to drive down unit bandwidth prices and unit 
service prices, making it a challenge for the Group to find 
ways to maintain profitability.

Countermeasures against risk:
As a countermeasure to the above risks, we continue to 
procure and launch satellites that incorporate advanced 
technologies, such as high-throughput satellites and 
software-defined satellites, and focus on seizing demand 
even in an increasingly competitive market. In recent 
years, we have steadily expanded earnings by providing 
services via two high throughput satellites: Horizons 3e, 
a satellite jointly owned with Intelsat; and JCSAT-1C, a 
satellite that is partially owned with Kacific.

The software-defined satellite Superbird-9, which is 
scheduled to enter service in the first half of 2027, is 
currently in production and is scheduled to provide 
high-capacity and highly flexible telecommunications 
services to Japan and other East Asian countries.

In December 2023, we began offering Starlink 
Business, a broadband service using low-Earth-orbit sat-
ellites. We will strive to further expand our business and 
strengthen our competitiveness by responding to the 
diverse needs of the market and our customers.

As the business environment changes with the rapid 
evolution of digital technology in recent years, the Group 
is working aggressively to leverage new technologies 
and expand its business domain in addition to its existing 
satellite communications business model. In the tele-
communications field, we aim to build a multi-layered 
communications network using geostationary and 
non-geostationary satellites and high-altitude platform 
stations (HAPS), as well as an ICT infrastructure in space 
that incorporates optical communications and space 
computing technologies. In the field of business intelli-
gence, we are strengthening our satellite imagery sales 
service and promoting the development and sales activi-
ties of services using data from Earth-observation satel-
lites to develop new markets. We are also working to 
commercialize other services using new technologies, 
such as satellite quantum key delivery and space debris 
control, to further expand our business. While we recog-
nize that new business initiatives involve greater uncer-
tainty and various higher risks than existing businesses, 
we believe that they are essential to further enhance our 
corporate value.

Residual Risks:
Yet, even if the currently envisioned measures are imple-
mented, the market environment may change rapidly with 
the emergence of new satellite service providers using 
low-Earth-orbit satellites and the like, and the Group may 
not be able to maintain the competitiveness of the tele-
communication services it provides in the market.

New business initiatives are carefully researched and 

analyzed in advance. The selection of business partners 
and the decision on the amount of capital investment will 
also be made through the necessary decision-making 
process after the business plan has been developed. 
However, the occurrence of circumstances that differ 
from those originally planned, such as delays in techno-
logical development, changes in the business conditions 
of business partners or changes in the market conditions 
assumed for the new business in question, may affect 
the Group’s business and management indicators.

[2] �Risks Concerning Communications Satellite 
Procurement

Risk Owner:
Unit President of Space Business Unit, SKY Perfect JSAT 
Corporation

Risk Status:
When procuring communications satellites, there is a 
risk of manufacturing delays at the suppliers and launch 
delays, failures, and so on If the scheduled start of oper-
ations for a communications satellite is delayed for any 
of these reasons, which results in continuous services 
unable to be provided for a certain period, there is a 
chance that earnings may decline and users may leave 
during that period.

Further, we may incur unplanned expenditures due to 
design or other factors during the communications satel-
lite manufacturing period.

Countermeasures against risk:
To mitigate the aforementioned risks, when creating 
procurement schedules, we take measures to prepare 
for potential launch failures, including fleet backup mea-
sures using backup satellites and existing satellites, as 
well as placing advance orders for long lead items for 
replacement satellites, to ensure the early delivery of 
replacement satellites.

Regarding payments to the suppliers, we are striving 
to reduce risk by making milestone payments based on 
progress made for both satellite manufacturing and 
launch services, and securing the right to claim a certain 
amount of compensation in the event of delivery delays 
affecting satellite manufacture. With respect to launch 
services, we will set the scheduled launch date in accor-
dance with the expected delivery date of the satellite so 
that it can be launched as soon as possible after its com-
pletion, and we will make every possible effort to adjust 
the contract during the manufacturing period. However, 
there may be cases where we are unable to launch the 
satellite on the terms and at the time we desire, such as 
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when there is a significant delay in satellite manufacture. 
With regard to insurance policies, we have insurance 
policies in place for both launch and in-orbit operations.

The launch risk insurance covers the cost of repro-
curement and repair of communications satellites in the 
event of complete or partial damage during the initial 
phase of operations, and it is generally valid for one year 
from the time of launch.

Residual Risks:
However, even if the currently envisioned measures are 
implemented, there are potential risks, including the risk 
that the manufacture and launch of successor satellites 
may be delayed due to the progress of technology devel-
opment, supply chain issues, unforeseen accidents, or 
geopolitical situations; the risk that the degree and cause 
of damage to a satellite or other factors may prevent the 
launch risk insurance from covering the full cost of the 
launch; the risk of increased premiums due to fluctua-
tions in the space insurance market environment; and 
the risk of not being covered by property insurance in the 
event of war or other absolute exemptions from cover-
age obligations.

[3] �Risks Concerning Communications Satellite 
Operations

Risk Owner:
Unit President of Space Business Unit, SKY Perfect JSAT 
Corporation

Risk Status:
Communication satellites owned by the Group are used 
for a relatively long period of more than 15 years. During 
this operational period, there is the possibility that the 
satellite may malfunction or that its operational capabili-
ties may be degraded due to manufacturing defects, 
defective parts, magnetic storms caused by solar activ-
ity, collisions with debris or meteorites, excessive fuel 
consumption, satellite control-related or operation-related 
failures, or other factors. If such events were to occur, 
we might experience a decline in revenue due to the 
inability to provide services, an outflow of customers, or 
costs associated with shifting customers to another 
satellite owned by the Group, any of which could have a 
negative impact on our earnings.

Countermeasures against risk:
To address the above risks, we have an in-orbit insurance 
policy in place for each launched communications satel-
lite that takes effect after the launch insurance period 
has elapsed. However, this insurance does not cover 

third-party liability, loss of revenue, or other business 
damages that the Group may incur due to technical mal-
functions of the communications satellite. The Group has 
maintained a dedicated backup satellite in orbit and has 
been prepared to provide backup as quickly as possible 
in the event that a satellite in operation malfunctions. 
The expected delay in the scheduled in-service date of 
the satellite procured as the successor, however, means 
that the dedicated backup-only spare communications 
satellite is planned to temporarily serve as the successor 
until the successor satellite is in service.

Therefore, in the event of a malfunction of a satellite 
in operation, we will switch to the dedicated backup 
satellite in orbital positions where we maintain a dedi-
cated backup satellite, and in other orbital positions, we 
will take possible measures such as continuing service 
using other satellites owned by the Group in accordance 
with the satellite fleet plan, However, there is a possibil-
ity that we may not be able to completely replace the 
capability of a communications satellite that has experi-
enced a malfunction.

Residual Risks:
Keeping this in mind, even if the currently envisioned 
measures are implemented, there is still the risk of earn-
ings decreasing due to the inability to provide replace-
ment functions via a backup satellite owned by the 
Group owing to unforeseen circumstances; the risk of 
not being covered by in-orbit insurance due to the appli-
cation of an exemption clause depending on the factors 
causing the communications satellite to malfunction; the 
risk of premiums rising due to changes in the space 
insurance market environment; and the risk of warfare.

Risks Related to Multichannel Pay TV 
Broadcasting Platform Services
[4] �Risks Concerning the Lower Feasibility of the 

Multichannel Pay TV Business
Risk Owner:
Unit President of Media Business Unit, SKY Perfect 
JSAT Corporation

Risk Status:
The acquisition and retention of subscribers is an import-
ant factor in the Group’s earnings growth. As of March 
31, 2023, we had 2,875,000 subscribers, but there is no 
guarantee that the number of subscribers will grow 
according to the Group’s plans going forward. In addi-
tion, despite our efforts to differentiate our content, 
enhance promotions, and implement various marketing 

measures such as campaigns, if the number of subscrip-
tions continues to decline or sharply decreases in the 
future due to intensified competition with competing 
services or changes in user viewing habits due to devel-
opments such as the penetration of video distribution 
services offering similar content online, there is no guar-
antee that the number of subscribers will grow as 
planned in the future, and the Group’s business and 
operating results will be adversely affected.

Countermeasures against risk:
Moreover, if the appeal of the Group’s services declines 
due to the Group’s inability to acquire leading content as 
a result of intensified competition or other factors, thus 
resulting in a greater than expected number of cancella-
tions by existing subscribers, the cumulative number of 
subscribers will decrease, and the profitability of the 
multichannel pay TV business will decline due to soaring 
broadcasting rights fees. This could have a negative 
impact on the Group’s business and operating results.

To address the above risks, we have prepared and 
are implementing a mid-term policy for business struc-
ture reform based on business income and expenditures; 
this is intended to secure a certain level of profit even if 
the number of subscribers in our multichannel pay TV 
business declines. In response to soaring broadcasting 
rights fees, the Company has established a content 
acquisition policy that clearly prioritizes content that con-
tributes to subscriber acquisition and retention, and it 
conducts after-the-fact reviews of the cost-effectiveness 
of this content.

Furthermore, through appropriate collaborations and 
alliances with other companies in the industry that pro-
vide paid content, the Company will strengthen its mar-
keting capabilities and increase the efficiency of its 
overall business.

At the same time, to increase earnings in the FTTH 
business, the Company is implementing measures to 
increase earnings outside its multichannel pay TV busi-
ness by strengthening its sales structure, collaborating 
with cable television companies and enhancing its ser-
vices, making effective use of Tokyo Media Center facili-
ties, and expanding its business in cutting-edge areas 
such as Web3, among other things.

Residual Risks:
However, we recognize that there is more risk than 
before due to the accelerated rise of online video distri-
bution services, so we have decided to launch “SKY 
PerfecTV! BANGUMI HAISHIN (a free distribution ser-
vice)” for our multichannel pay TV business subscribers 

along with our new original video distribution service, 
“SPOOX.” Still, even if the currently envisioned mea-
sures are implemented we still expect to risk further 
decreases in profitability if the number of subscribers 
declines due to increasingly fierce competition or if 
broadcasting rights fees and distribution rights fees rise 
more than expected.

The Company has stated that it will aggressively 
pursue four major initiatives as its growth strategy for 
the media business: “expansion of content,” “expansion 
of transmission channels,” “expansion into cutting-edge 
areas,” and “expansion of the entertainment infrastruc-
ture area.” However, if the risk of a decline in the busi-
ness potential of the multichannel pay TV business 
becomes apparent, it is inevitable that the Company will 
slow down its efforts toward transformation, resulting in 
a spiral of further decline in attractiveness and deteriorat-
ing profitability. Therefore, our challenge is how to pre-
vent, such risks from materializing.

[5] Risks Concerning Illegal Viewing
Risk Owner:
Unit President of Media Business Unit, SKY Perfect 
JSAT Corporation

Risk Status:
The Group’s multichannel pay TV broadcasting service, 
SKY PerfecTV!, uses IC cards/chips referred to as B-CAS 
cards/ ACAS chips. With regard to B-CAS cards, a vendor 
of modified B-CAS cards that allow users to illegally view 
pay TV broadcasts have been arrested. In addition, there 
have been cases of injunctions to prevent the sale of 
illegal devices exclusively for online distribution on major 
e-commerce sites, on the grounds that such sales con-
stitute an act of aiding and abetting infringement of pub-
lic transmission rights and the right to make 
transmittable. Illegal viewing using modified B-CAS cards 
and illegal devices exclusively for online distribution may 
have a significant negative impact on the healthy dissem-
ination and expansion of multichannel pay TV broadcast-
ing as a whole, as well as the Group’s business and 
operating results.

Also, while the Group’s multichannel pay TV broad-
casting services, which include SKY PerfecTV! Premium 
and SKY PerfecTV! Premium Hikari, use IC cards that 
differ from B-CAS cards, similar unauthorized viewing 
could have a negative impact on the Group’s business 
and operating results.

Countermeasures against risk:
To mitigate the above risks, we have been actively 
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involved in the development of ACAS chips for the 
launch of 4K/8K broadcasts. ACAS chips have enhanced 
security functions and are also compatible with 2K broad-
casts, allowing SKY PerfecTV! Service to be viewed on 
4K TVs equipped with the ACAS chip, just like before. As 
4K TVs gain more widespread adoption in the future, 
B-CAS cards will be replaced by ACAS chips, and this is 
expected to reduce risk to a certain extent. In the event 
that unauthorized viewing via B-CAS cards is discovered, 
the Group’s policy is to take all possible measures to 
deal with the situation in a serious manner, including 
claims for damages and other legal action, in cooperation 
with other pay TV operators and BS Conditional Access 
Systems, Co., Ltd., which owns the B-CAS cards. We 
will continue to file both criminal and civil lawsuits and 
publicize the illegality in our public relations going for-
ward. In addition to continued efforts to look into more 
effective technical measures, we will enhance our coop-
eration with relevant ministries and agencies so that 
legal action can be taken against unauthorized viewers 
who use unauthorized viewing devices.

Residual Risks:
Yet even if the currently envisioned measures are imple-
mented, if ACAS chips are not adopted as widely as 
expected, or if the above measures are not an effective 
deterrent, there is a chance that unauthorized viewing 
using modified B-CAS cards will continue to occur over a 
lengthy period of time. In addition, there has recently 
been an influx of illegal devices from overseas dedicated 
to online distribution that enable unauthorized viewing 
via the Internet, and it is possible that unauthorized view-
ing will increase due to these devices. The Japan 
Satellite Broadcasting Association, which has success-
fully obtained injunctions against the sale of illegal view-
ing devices to major e-commerce sites, has taken the 
lead in establishing the Council Against Illegal Streaming 
Devices, with the support of the Ministry of Internal 
Affairs and Communications of Japan and the participa-
tion of broadcasters and related organizations. The Group 
is actively involved with the activities of this council and 
is working to prevent the distribution of illegal dedicated 
online streaming devices. In the event that new technol-
ogies or devices that enable dedicated online streaming 
or unauthorized viewing emerge, and the Group is unable 
to implement effective countermeasures against them or 
is forced to spend a large amount of money to imple-
ment such countermeasures, the Group’s business and 
operating results may be adversely affected.

[6] �Risks Concerning the Customer Management System
Risk Owner:
Unit President of Media Business Unit, SKY Perfect 
JSAT Corporation

Risk Status:
The Group uses a large-scale client management system 
to manage various types of customer and contract infor-
mation related to its multichannel paid services and other 
services, including new subscriptions, channel changes, 
cancellation processing, billing, and invoicing. This sys-
tem plays a key role in Media Business operations and 
revenue management. In the event that this system 
experiences a major failure, or if errors occur in program 
modifications and so on due to system configuration or 
specification changes, services such as subscription 
registration may be suspended, business operations 
could be hindered due to issues with various transac-
tions and procedures with broadcasters, our social repu-
tation could be damaged, and unforeseen costs required 
to resolve problems and respond to customers could be 
incurred. The Group’s business and operating results 
may be adversely affected as well.

In addition, improper data entry or falsification of 
records could undermine the reliability of revenues, which 
form the basis of business performance, and adversely 
affect business operations and operating results.

Countermeasures against risk:
To address the aforementioned risks, the client manage-
ment system is installed in a seismically isolated facility 
to prevent serious system failures, and each piece of 
equipment and device has redundancies built in. 
Furthermore, applications, data, and other information 
are regularly backed up to servers in remote locations. 
The Group has also taken measures to prevent system 
configuration flaws, including meticulous operational 
management through the preparation of configuration 
manuals and so on, internal procedures for program 
modifications, and periodic inventory checks of system 
access privileges.

Residual Risks:
That being said, even if the currently envisioned mea-
sures are implemented, there is still the risk of human 
error and unexpected failures due to inadequacies in 
the requirement definitions and such during system 
maintenance.

Business Risks
The risks listed below are risk items that the Group has 
identified as significant risks for the fiscal year ended 
March 31, 2024, along with countermeasures to address 
them. The risks discussed here do not cover all of the 
risks faced by the Group. In addition, there may arise 
unknown risks that the Group is not aware of, or risks 
that may grow more significant in the future and have a 
serious impact on the Group’s business, financial posi-
tion, and operating results. Forward-looking statements 
in this document are based on the judgment of the 
Group as of the end of fiscal year.

[7] Risks Concerning Business Investments, etc.
Risk Owner:
Unit President of Corporate Administration Unit, SKY 
Perfect JSAT Corporation

Risk Status:
To expand its business, the Group may consider mergers 
and acquisitions, investments in other companies, alli-
ances with other companies, and the establishment of 
cooperative frameworks. If the Group determines that 
such actions will contribute to its future business strate-
gies and operating results, it may execute said actions.

However, if we are unable to integrate the target 
businesses of an acquisition in line with the Group’s 
management strategy, or if we are unable to achieve the 
synergy we expect, apply the Group’s internal control 
system to the target businesses of an acquisition, or if 
we discover significant problems after making the acqui-
sition, including problems in technological fields in which 
the Group is not guaranteed to possess knowledge or 
expertise, the Group’s financial situation and operating 
results may be adversely affected.

Moreover, acquisitions may result in large amounts of 
goodwill and intangible assets being recorded, which 
may be impaired if the profitability of the target busi-
nesses declines. Also, losses on the sale or liquidation of 
a business or other losses associated with business 
restructuring may adversely affect the Group’s operating 
results and financial position.

Countermeasures against risk:
To address these risks, the Company has established 
rules and regulations pertaining to investments, and it 
holds discussions and makes decisions on financing and 
investments after taking into consideration business 
plans, the internal rate of return, withdrawal criteria, and 
other risks. Furthermore, when it comes to major invest-
ment proposals, the Company has a system of multiple 

checks and careful examinations from multiple perspec-
tives. This includes departmental meetings; discussions 
at meetings of the Management Committee, an advisory 
body to the Representative Director, President; and reso-
lutions at meetings of the Board of Directors.

To establish and execute appropriate internal control, 
we also dispatch personnel to the companies in which 
we invest and require them to comply with the rules and 
regulations established by the Group for proper manage-
ment. When making investment decisions, we establish 
milestones and conduct reviews as appropriate. In addi-
tion, after deciding to invest, we review the financial 
condition, policies, profitability, capital cost, ownership 
significance, investment appropriateness, and other fac-
tors for each investment target, and report the results to 
the Board of Directors.

Residual Risks:
That being said, even if the currently envisioned mea-
sures are implemented, it is impossible to completely 
prevent losses in the businesses we acquire or impair-
ment of investment securities or goodwill that result 
from changes in the market and competitive environ-
ment or inadequate business management after invest-
ments or acquisitions have been made. Thus, there is no 
guarantee that we can secure profits that are commen-
surate with our investments.

Also, the occurrence of compliance-related issues at 
the companies in which we have invested could damage 
the Group’s social credibility.

[8] Risks Concerning Legal Business Regulations
Risk Owner:
Unit President of Corporate Administration Unit, SKY 
Perfect JSAT Corporation

Risk Status:
In conducting its business activities, the Group is subject 
to legal regulations in Japan, including the Broadcasting 
Act, the Telecommunications Business Act, the Radio 
Act, the Antimonopoly Act, the Act on the Protection of 
Personal Information, environmental laws and regula-
tions, and the Act for Normalization of Grants, etc. We 
are also subject to the legal regulations of each country 
where we operate. Violations of these laws and regula-
tions, or behavior contrary to societal demands, may 
result in legal penalties, lawsuits, social sanctions, orders 
to suspend business, or loss of trust from customers and 
other stakeholders, which may adversely affect the 
Group’s business and operating results.

Furthermore, if new laws or regulations are enacted 
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that change the current system that applies to satellite 
broadcasting in Japan and to the launch, operation, and 
commercial use of communications satellites in Japan 
and overseas, or if revisions are made that are detrimen-
tal to the Group’s business activities, our business opera-
tions may be restricted, which could adversely affect its 
business and operating results.

In addition, failure to take appropriate action on 
human rights issues, including supply chain issues, 
could result in suspension of business with customers, 
administrative penalties, and loss of public confidence 
in the Group.

Countermeasures against risk:
To address the above risks, we have established the SKY 
Perfect JSAT Group Compliance Basic Regulations, the 
Group Officer and Employee Code of Conduct, and the 
Human Rights Policy, based on the “SKY Perfect JSAT 
Group Mission” and the “SKY Perfect JSAT Principles,” 
and we require Board Directors and employees to com-
ply with all laws and regulations, including respect for 
human rights.

The Group has also appointed a Chief Compliance 
Officer and established a Compliance Committee, 
chaired by the Chief Compliance Officer, that meets on 
a regular basis.

In addition, to ensure that compliance is firmly estab-
lished throughout the Company, the we provide educa-
tion and training to Board Directors and employees and 
utilizes a service that disseminates information about the 
enactment and revision of new laws and regulations as 
required to ensure compliance with said laws and 
regulations.

To provide a system that allows for prompt reports 
and consultations, even anonymously, with internal and 
external points of contact in the event of any suspected 
violation of laws or regulations is discovered in the 
Group’s business activities or in the conduct of Board 
Directors or employees, a “Compliance Helpline” has 
been established and is operated in an appropriate man-
ner. Our Internal Audit Division regularly audits the status 
of compliance of the Group, including the status of the 
aforementioned countermeasures.

Moreover, with regard to the enactment or revision 
of laws and regulations that alter existing systems in 
Japan and overseas, we constantly monitor the inclina-
tions of relevant authorities and take measures to miti-
gate risks by expressing our views as required and 
making advance preparations for systemic changes.

Residual Risks:
However, even if the currently envisioned measures are 
implemented, there is a chance that we may not be able 
to completely eliminate the possibility of legal violations, 
or that we may not be able to take appropriate action due 
to delays in obtaining information on the enactment or 
revision of new laws and regulations in Japan or overseas, 
which could adversely affect our business operations.

[9] �Risks Concerning Leaks and the Handling of  
Personal Information and Important Information, 
and Cyber Security

Risk Owner:
Unit President of Corporate Administration Unit, SKY 
Perfect JSAT Corporation

Risk Status:
The Group retains customer information, including sub-
scriber information for the services it provides, in its 
Media Business, and important information, including 
technical information, in its Space Business. If this infor-
mation is leaked due to a system failure resulting from a 
hardware/ software malfunction, human error, or unau-
thorized access by a third party, or if personal informa-
tion is improperly handled, the Group’s business and 
operating results may be adversely affected due to loss 
of public trust, compensation for damages, or other 
costs incurred while handling the situation. In the event 
of a large-scale cyberattack, not only could this informa-
tion be leaked, but the operation of broadcasting/ distri-
bution services as well as satellite communications 
services could also be disrupted.

Countermeasures against risk:
To address the above risks, the Group has obtained 
ISMS (Information Security Management System) certifi-
cation and the Privacy Mark, and has established an 
information security and personal information protection 
management system to ensure strict information 
management.

As part of these activities, the Personal Information 
Management Committee and Information Security 
Management Committee have been established to moni-
tor the status of information security management within 
the Group.

Further, the CSIRT has been established as an orga-
nization responsible for responding to security incidents, 
and training has been conducted as well. In terms of 
system measures, we utilize encrypted servers when 
storing personal information and important business 
information; intrusion prevention systems and anti-virus 

software to prevent infections; system logging; and the 
detection of vulnerabilities through security diagnostics, 
among other measures.

Additionally, in response to the diversification of 
cyberattack methods and the increase in cybersecurity 
risks due to the promotion of DX (Digital Transformation) 
and other factors, we have appointed a CISO and are 
working on the implementation and enhancement of 
cybersecurity measures. We are also strengthening our 
ability to detect malware and unauthorized communica-
tions, and reviewing our internal network construction 
standards.

Residual Risks:
However, even if all of these measures are implemented, 
information leaks or service disruptions could occur due 
to unforeseen situations that overwhelm these mea-
sures, such as advanced cyberattacks utilizing new 
technologies.

[10] �Risks Concerning Business Continuity Due to  
Large-Scale Disasters, etc.

Risk Owner:
Unit President of Corporate Administration Unit, SKY 
Perfect JSAT Corporation

Risk Status:
As a corporate group that provides highly public services 
in broadcasting and telecommunications, the Group 
owns broadcasting facilities and satellite control and 
communication facilities in Japan. In the event of a large-
scale disaster, accident, COVID-19, or other infectious 
disease pandemic, there is a chance that it may be diffi-
cult to continue business operations due to damage 
sustained by facilities and equipment, facility closures, or 
voluntary suspension of activities. There is also the risk 
that it may be impossible to secure the employees 
required to continue operations due to employees being 
affected by the disaster, public transportation being sus-
pended, and so on.

Countermeasures against risk:
To address these risks, we have established and are 
operating a business continuity plan (BCP) that lays out 
how each of our businesses will continue its operations, 
including personnel plans and other systems, in times of 
emergency. With regard to the business continuity sys-
tem to address the spread of COVID 19 or other infec-
tious diseases, along with the establishment of remote 
work, we have created a system for enabling operations 
to be carried out while ensuring the safety of employees 

by setting up a work schedule in accordance with how 
infections are spreading, based on requests from the 
national government and Tokyo.

Sites that handle continuous operations are equipped 
with seismic control or isolation structures and have 
emergency power generation capabilities and emergency 
food stockpiles. In particular, satellite communications 
control facilities, which are expected to be used more 
than usual in the event of a disaster, are equipped with 
uninterruptible power supplies and designed such that 
even if one facility is shut down, services can be pro-
vided by other facilities to avoid serious disruptions to 
operations. We are also continuing to study and devise 
and formulate countermeasures to deal with threats 
such as hurricanes and strong winds and torrential rains 
that have been occurring frequently in recent years due 
to climate change and other factors.

Residual Risks:
Still, even if the currently envisioned measures are 
implemented, because not all of our services have full 
backup facilities, in the event of a large-scale disaster 
that cannot be fully handled via the countermeasures 
currently envisioned, there is the risk of long-term sus-
pension of broadcasting, distribution, and communication 
services, as well as a risk of being unable to secure fuel 
and personnel at bases due to prolonged disruptions in 
transportation and other services. Such a situation could 
have a negative impact on the Group’s business and 
operating results.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars (Note 1)

2023 2024 2024

ASSETS

Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 6 and 16) ¥ 107,909 ¥ 114,322 $    755,099

Accounts receivable (Notes 6 and 16):

Trade 61,292 56,537 373,426

Affiliated companies 199 484 3,199

Other 690 475 3,136

Allowance for doubtful accounts (88) (84) (555)

Lease receivables (Notes 6, 12 and 16) 46,235 43,132 284,890

Inventories:

Broadcasting rights 948 855 5,650

Work in process 349 77 510

Other 1,462 1,835 12,120

Advance payments to suppliers (Note 4) 1,247 4,786 31,613

Investment in and advances to affiliated companies (Notes 16 and 19) 3,630 4,397 29,039

Other (Notes 4, 6 and 19) 4,982 4,454 29,414

Total current assets 228,855 231,270 1,527,541

Property and Equipment:

Buildings and structures 22,347 24,210 159,909

Machinery, equipment and vehicles 67,035 70,911 468,365

Telecommunications satellites 227,758 227,758 1,504,349

Land 2,924 3,102 20,489

Construction in progress 20,524 23,955 158,221

Other 16,472 17,806 117,611

Total property and equipment 357,060 367,742 2,428,944

Accumulated depreciation (241,666) (256,448) (1,693,845)

Net property and equipment 115,394 111,294 735,099

Investments and Other Assets:

Software 4,287 4,546 30,027

Investment securities (Notes 5 and 16) 4,613 14,402 95,127

Investment in and advances to affiliated companies (Notes 16 and 19) 33,190 33,982 224,450

Deferred tax assets (Notes 2.p and 10) 10,154 7,542 49,814

Other 2,562 2,375 15,690

Total investments and other assets 54,806 62,847 415,108

Total ¥ 399,055 ¥ 405,411 $ 2,677,748

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars (Note 1)

2023 2024 2024

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liabilities:

Current portion of long-term debt (Notes 6 and 16) ¥   10,572 ¥   10,793 $      71,291

Accounts payable:

Trade 13,606 9,658 63,789

Affiliated companies 363 323 2,132

Income taxes payable 5,805 5,099 33,682

Subscription fees received 6,755 6,408 42,327

Unearned revenues 19,145 21,946 144,956

Accrued bonus 629 699 4,614

Other 7,201 5,273 34,823

Total current liabilities 64,076 60,199 397,614

Non-current Liabilities:

Long-term debt (Notes 6 and 16) 62,976 55,016 363,385

Liabilities for retirement benefits (Note 7) 6,545 6,438 42,525

Deferred tax liabilities (Notes 2.p and 10) 1,102 1,416 9,354

Asset retirement obligations (Note 8) 2,274 2,326 15,364

Other 5,267 8,033 53,054

Total non-current liabilities 78,164 73,229 483,682

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (Notes 12 and 17):

Equity (Note 9):

Common stock

Authorized, 1,450,000,000 shares;

Issued, 297,404,212 shares in 2023 and 297,578,423 shares in 2024 10,082 10,129 66,903

Capital surplus 131,911 131,958 871,587

Retained earnings 114,333 126,015 832,333

Treasury stock—at cost, 6,933,124 shares in 2023 and 14,323,086 
shares in 2024 (2,924) (7,924) (52,341)

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Unrealized (loss) gain on available-for-sale securities (192) 6,964 45,995

Deferred gain on derivatives under hedge accounting 8 516 3,410

Foreign currency translation adjustments 2,546 2,761 18,238

Remeasurements of defined retirement benefit plans (344) (197) (1,304)

Total 255,420 270,222 1,784,821

Non-controlling interests 1,395 1,761 11,631

Total equity 256,815 271,983 1,796,452

Total ¥ 399,055 ¥ 405,411 $ 2,677,748

SKY Perfect JSAT Holdings Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
March 31, 2024

108 109SKY Perfect JSAT
Integrated Report 2024

SKY Perfect JSAT
Integrated Report 2024

D
ata S

ection/Financial S
ection



Consolidated Statement of Income Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
SKY Perfect JSAT Holdings Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Year Ended March 31, 2024

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars (Note 1)

2023 2024 2024

Revenues (Notes 2.o, 11 and 20) ¥ 121,140 ¥ 121,873 $ 804,972

Operating Expenses:

Cost of services (Notes 13 and 20) 69,058 66,690 440,487

Selling, general, and administrative expenses (Notes 14 and 20) 29,758 28,637 189,149

Operating Profit (Note 20) 22,324 26,546 175,336

Other Income (Expenses):

Interest and dividend income 1,708 2,256 14,900

Interest expense (Note 6) (1,497) (1,897) (12,530)

Foreign exchange gains —net 58 173 1,143

Share of loss of investments accounted for using the equity method (68) (311) (2,052)

Subsidy income (Note 4) 366 11 71

Gain on sales of investment securities (Note 5) 235 — —

Impairment loss (Notes 15 and 20) (74) — —

Write-down of investment securities (Note 5) (224) (870) (5,744)

Other—net (Note 4) 295 351 2,319

Other Income—Net 799 (287) (1,893)

Profit before Income Taxes 23,123 26,259 173,443

Income Taxes (Note 10):

Current 8,143  8,710 57,533

Deferred (1,120) (607) (4,008)

Total Income Taxes 7,023 8,103 53,525

Profit 16,100 18,156 119,918

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 290 417 2,751

Profit attributable to owners of the parent ¥   15,810 ¥   17,739 $ 117,167

Yen U.S. dollars (Note 1)

2023 2024 2024

Per Share of Common Stock (Note 2.t):

Earnings Per Share ¥     54.44 ¥     61.69 $       0.41

Diluted Earnings Per Share — —

Cash Dividends Applicable to the Year 20.00 21.00 0.14

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars (Note 1)

2023 2024 2024

Profit ¥ 16,100 ¥ 18,156 $ 119,918

Other comprehensive income (Note 18):

Unrealized (loss) gain on available-for-sale securities (122) 7,156 47,265

Deferred gain on derivatives under hedge accounting 134 503 3,333

Foreign currency translation adjustments 2,688 215 1,418

Remeasurement of defined retirement benefit plans 138 147 966

Share of other comprehensive income in affiliated companies 
 accounted for using the equity method (8) 45 296

Total other comprehensive Income 2,830 8,066 53,278

Comprehensive income ¥ 18,930 ¥ 26,222 $ 173,196

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent ¥ 18,565 ¥ 25,764 $ 170,174

Non-controlling interests 365 458 3,022

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

SKY Perfect JSAT Holdings Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Year Ended March 31, 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Millions of yen

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Outstanding 
number of 
shares of 
common 

stock

Common 
stock

Capital 
surplus

Retained 
earnings

Treasury 
stock

Unrealized 
gain (loss) on 
available-for-

sale securities

Deferred 
gain (loss) on 
derivatives 

under hedge 
accounting

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments

Remeasure-
ment of 
defined 

retirement 
benefit plans

Total
Non-

controlling 
interests

Total 
equity

Balance, April 1, 2022 290,300,034 ¥10,082 ¥131,893 ¥103,750 ¥(3,000) ¥    (67) ¥ (46) ¥  (142) ¥(482) ¥241,988 ¥1,089 ¥243,077

Cash dividends, ¥20.00 per share (5,227) (5,227) (5,227)

Profit attributable to  
owners of parent 15,810 15,810 15,810

Purchase of treasury shares (8,133) — —

Disposal of treasury shares 179,187 18 76 94 94

Net change in items other than 
shareholders’ equity (125) 54 2,688 138 2,755 306 3,061

Balance, March 31, 2023 290,471,088 ¥10,082 ¥131,911 ¥114,333 ¥(2,924) ¥  (192) ¥    8 ¥2,546 ¥(344) ¥255,420 ¥1,395 ¥256,815

Issuance of new shares 174,211 47 47 94 94

Cash dividends, ¥21.00 per share (6,081) (6,081) (6,081)

Profit attributable to  
owners of parent 17,739 17,739 17,739

Purchase of treasury shares (7,389,962) (5,000) (5,000) (5,000)

Adustment to retained earnings 
for change in the number of 
equity method affiliates 24 24 24

Net change in items other than 
shareholders’ equity 7,156 508 215 147 8,026 366 8,392

Balance, March 31, 2024 283,255,337 ¥10,129 ¥131,958 ¥126,015 ¥(7,924) ¥6,964 ¥516 ¥2,761 ¥(197) ¥270,222 ¥1,761 ¥271,983

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Outstanding 
number of 
shares of 
common 

stock

Common 
stock

Capital 
surplus

Retained 
earnings

Treasury 
stock

Unrealized 
gain (loss) on 
available-for-

sale securities

Deferred 
gain (loss) on 
derivatives 

under hedge 
accounting

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments

Remeasure-
ment of 
defined 

retirement 
benefit plans

Total
Non-

controlling 
interests

Total 
equity

Balance, March 31, 2023 290,471,088 $66,591 $871,275 $755,174 $(19,316) $ (1,268) $     51 $16,820 $(2,270) $1,687,057 $  9,215 $1,696,272

Issuance of new shares 174,211 312 312 624 624

Cash dividends, $0.14 per share (40,167) (40,167) (40,167)

Profit attributable to  
owners of parent 117,167 117,167 117,167

Purchase of treasury shares (7,389,962) (33,025) (33,025) (33,025)

Adustment to retained earnings 
for change in the number of 
equity method affiliates 159 159 159

Net change in items other than 
shareholders’ equity 47,263 3,359 1,418 966 53,006 2,416 55,422

Balance, March 31, 2024 283,255,337 $66,903 $871,587 $832,333 $(52,341) $45,995 $3,410 $18,238 $(1,304) $1,784,821 $11,631 $1,796,452

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars (Note 1)

2023 2024 2024

Operating Activities:
Profit before income taxes ¥   23,123 ¥   26,259 $ 173,443
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization (Note 20) 21,165 20,232 133,630
Impairment loss 74 — —
Amortization of goodwill 67 — —
Interest and dividend income (1,708) (2,256) (14,900)
Interest expense 1,497 1,897 12,530
Equity in net losses of affiliated companies 68 311 2,052
Decrease in receivables—trade and affiliated companies 2,601 4,621 30,524
Write-down of investment securities 224 870 5,744
(Increase) decrease in broadcasting rights (552) 93 614
Increase in inventories (429) (101) (669)
Increase (decrease) in advance payments to suppliers (Note 4) 314 (3,539) (23,375)
Increase (decrease) in payables—trade and affiliated companies 783 (3,991) (26,361)
Increase in deferred revenues 8,286 2,798 18,478
Decrease in lease receivables 199 3,103 20,493
Other—net (Note 4) 6,003 127 852

Subtotal 61,715 50,424 333,055
Interest and dividends received 1,660 2,264 14,953
Interest paid (1,208) (1,909) (12,607)
Income taxes paid (4,536) (8,375) (55,322)

Net cash provided by operating activities 57,631 42,404 280,079
Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (15,975) (13,473) (88,991)
Purchases of intangible assets (1,441) (1,903) (12,568)
Purchases of investment securities (585) (234) (1,547)
Proceeds from collection of loans receivable 3,241 3,848 25,413
Proceeds from sale and redemption of investment securities (Note 4) 970 — —
Payments for additional acquisition of shares of affiliated companies (3,000) (3,624) (23,935)
Other—net (80) 1 9

Net cash used in investing activities (16,870) (15,385) (101,619)
Financing Activities:
Repayments of finance lease obligations (0) — —
Proceeds from long-term loans payable — 1,000 6,605
Repayments of long-term loans payable (9,140) (10,886) (71,904)
Redemption of bonds (5,000) — —
Purchase of treasury shares — (5,044) (33,318)
Dividends paid (5,224) (6,076) (40,134)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (59) (94) (610)
Other—net — 1 5

Net cash used in financing activities (19,423) (21,099) (139,356)
Foreign currency translation adjustments on cash and 
 cash equivalents 657 493 3,255
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 21,995 6,413 42,359
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 85,914 107,909 712,740
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year ¥ 107,909 ¥ 114,322 $ 755,099

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. �BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with the provisions set forth 
in the Japanese Financial Instruments and Exchange Act, 
and its related accounting regulations, and in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles in Japan 
(“Japanese GAAP”), which are different in certain respects 
as to application and disclosure requirements of generally 
accepted accounting principles in the United States of 
America and IFRS Accounting Standards.

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, 
certain reclassifications and rearrangements have been 
made to the consolidated financial statements issued 
domestically in order to present them in a form that is more 
familiar to readers outside Japan. In addition, certain reclassi-
fications have been made in the 2023 consolidated financial 
statements to conform to the classifications used in 2024.

The consolidated financial statements are stated in 
Japanese yen, the currency of the country in which SKY 
Perfect JSAT Holdings Inc. (the “Company”) is incorpo-
rated and operates. The translations of Japanese yen 
amounts into U.S. dollar amounts are included solely for 
the convenience of readers outside Japan and have been 
made at the rate of ¥151.40 to $1, the approximate rate of 
exchange at March 31, 2024. Such translations should not 
be construed as representations that the Japanese yen 
amounts could be converted into U.S. dollars at that or 
any other rate.

2. �SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a. Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 
2024, include the accounts of the Company and its signifi-
cant subsidiaries (together, the “Companies”). The 
remaining subsidiaries are excluded from the scope of 
consolidation because those unconsolidated subsidiaries 
do not have material effects on the accompanying consoli-
dated financial statements.

The numbers of consolidated subsidiaries and affiliated 
companies, in which investments are accounted for under 
the equity method, as of March 31, 2023 and 2024, are 
summarized below.

2023 2024

Consolidated subsidiaries 8 9

Affiliated companies:

Unconsolidated subsidiaries 6 8

Associated companies 23 23

Under the control and influence concepts, those com-
panies in which the Company, directly or indirectly, is able 
to exercise control over operations are consolidated, and 
those companies over which the Companies have the 
ability to exercise significant influence are accounted for 
by the equity method.

Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and associ-
ated companies are accounted for by the equity method.

All significant intercompany balances and transactions 
have been eliminated in consolidation. All material unreal-
ized profit included in assets resulting from transactions 
within the Companies is also eliminated.

b. �Unification of Accounting Policies Applied to Foreign 
Subsidiaries for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The accounting standard for unification of accounting 
policies applied to foreign subsidiaries for the consolidated 
financial statements: (1) requires the accounting policies 
and procedures applied to a parent company and its sub-
sidiaries for similar transactions and events under similar 
circumstances to be, in principle, unified for the prepara-
tion of the consolidated financial statements and (2) 
allows for financial statements prepared by foreign subsid-
iaries in accordance with either IFRS Accounting 
Standards or generally accepted accounting principles in 
the United States of America to be tentatively used for 
the consolidation process. However, the following items 
should be adjusted in the consolidation process so that 
net income is accounted for in accordance with Japanese 
GAAP, unless they are not material: 1) amortization of 
goodwill; 2) scheduled amortization of actuarial gain or 
loss of pensions that has been directly recorded in equity 
through other comprehensive income; 3) expensing capi-
talized development costs of research and development 
(“R&D”); 4) cancellation of the fair value model accounting 
for property, plant and equipment and investment proper-
ties and incorporation of the cost model of accounting; 
and 5) recording a gain or loss through profit or loss on the 
sale of an investment in an equity instrument for the dif-
ference between the acquisition cost and selling price, 
and recording impairment loss through profit or loss for 
other-than-temporary declines in the fair value of an 
investment in an equity instrument, where a foreign sub-
sidiary elects to present in other comprehensive income 
subsequent changes in the fair value of an investment in 
an equity instrument.

c. �Unification of Accounting Policies Applied to Foreign 
Associated Companies for the Equity Method

The accounting standard requires adjustments to be made 
to conform the affiliate’s accounting policies for similar 
transactions and events under similar circumstances to 
those of the parent company when the associate’s finan-
cial statements are used in applying the equity method, 
unless it is impracticable to determine adjustments. In 
addition, financial statements prepared by foreign associ-
ated companies in accordance with either IFRS 
Accounting Standards or generally accepted accounting 
principles in the United States of America tentatively may 
be used in applying the equity method if the following 
items are adjusted so that net income is accounted for in 
accordance with Japanese GAAP, unless they are not 
material: 1) amortization of goodwill; 2) scheduled amorti-
zation of actuarial gain or loss of pensions that has been 
directly recorded in equity through other comprehensive 
income; 3) expensing capitalized development costs of 
R&D; 4) cancellation of the fair value model accounting for 
property, plant and equipment and investment properties 
and incorporation of the cost model of accounting; and 5) 
recording a gain or loss through profit or loss on the sale 
of an investment in an equity instrument for the difference 
between the acquisition cost and selling price, and record-
ing impairment loss through profit or loss for oth-
er-than-temporary declines in the fair value of an 
investment in an equity instrument, where a foreign asso-
ciate elects to present in other comprehensive income 
subsequent changes in the fair value of an investment in 
an equity instrument.

d. Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents are short-term investments that are 
readily convertible into cash and that are exposed to insig-
nificant risk of changes in value.

Cash equivalents include time deposits, commercial 
paper, and mutual funds investing in bonds, all of which 
mature or become due within three months of the date 
of acquisition.

e. Inventories
Inventories consist primarily of broadcasting rights and 
work in process. The Companies purchase rights relating 
to the broadcasting of programs, which are capitalized and 
then amortized based on the number of showings.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, or net sell-
ing value. The cost is determined by the specific identifi-
cation method for broadcasting rights and work in 
process, and by the first-in, first-out method for merchan-
dise and supplies.

f. Securities
Securities are presented as investment securities in the 
consolidated balance sheet.

Securities are classified as held-to-maturity debt secu-
rities or available-for-sale securities, depending on man-
agement’s intent.

Held-to-maturity debt securities, for which there is a 
positive intent and ability to hold to maturity, are stated at 
amortized cost.

Securities other than equity instruments that do not 
have a quoted market price in an active market are stated 
at fair value with unrealized gains and losses, net of appli-
cable taxes, reported in a separate component of equity. 
The cost of securities sold is determined based on the 
moving-average method.

Equity instruments that do not have a quoted market 
price in an active market are stated at cost determined by 
the moving-average method. For other-than-temporary 
declines in fair value, securities are reduced to net realiz-
able value by a charge to income.

g. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
An allowance for doubtful accounts is provided for the 
estimated amount of uncollectible receivables, such as 
accounts receivable—trade and loans receivable, based on 
the past credit loss experience of bad debts for general 
receivables, and on the individually evaluated collectability 
for specific doubtful accounts.

h. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is 
computed by the straight-line method over the estimated 
useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful lives for 
property and equipment are principally as follows:

Buildings and structures 3–50 years

Machinery, equipment, and vehicles 2–17 years

Telecommunications satellites 12–15 years

Other 2–20 years

SKY Perfect JSAT Holdings Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Year Ended March 31, 2024

114 115SKY Perfect JSAT
Integrated Report 2024

SKY Perfect JSAT
Integrated Report 2024

D
ata S

ection/Financial S
ection



i. Software
Software is stated at cost less accumulated amortization 
and is amortized by the straight-line method over its esti-
mated internal useful life (mainly five years).

j. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Companies review their long-lived assets for impair-
ment whenever events or changes in circumstance indi-
cate the carrying amount of an asset or asset group may 
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized if 
the carrying amount of an asset or asset group exceeds 
the sum of the undiscounted future cash flows expected 
to result from the continued use and eventual disposition 
of the asset or asset group. The impairment loss would be 
measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of 
the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the 
higher of the discounted cash flows from the continued 
use and eventual disposition of the asset or the net selling 
price at disposition.

k. Accrued Bonuses
Accrued bonuses for employees are recorded for the 
estimated bonuses attributable to the current fiscal year 
within the period eligible for bonus payment set by the 
Companies.

l. Retirement and Pension Plans
Certain consolidated subsidiaries of the Company have 
unfunded defined benefit severance indemnity plans cov-
ering substantially all of their employees other than direc-
tors, executive officers, and Audit & Supervisory Board 
Members.

Certain subsidiaries of the Company also participate in 
a contributory multi-employer pension plan covering all of 
their employees. The costs of the multi-employer plan are 
accrued based on the contribution amounts.

The Companies record liabilities for retirement bene-
fits based on the projected benefit obligations required at 
the consolidated balance sheet date to provide for future 
payments.

The projected benefit obligations are attributed to 
periods on a benefit formula basis. Unrecognized actuarial 
differences are amortized by the straight-line method over 
the average remaining service years of the employees or 
a shorter period (10–17 years), starting from the year fol-
lowing the year in which the differences occur. 
Unrecognized prior service cost is amortized by the 
straight-line method over the average remaining service 
years of the employees (10–12 years), starting from the 
year in which it occurs.

m. Asset Retirement Obligations
Under the accounting standard for asset retirement obliga-
tions, an asset retirement obligation is defined as a legal 
obligation imposed either by law or contract that results 
from the acquisition, construction, development and nor-
mal operation of a tangible fixed asset and is associated 
with the retirement of such tangible fixed asset. The asset 
retirement obligation is recognized as the sum of the dis-
counted cash flows required for future asset retirement 
and is recorded in the period in which the obligation is 
incurred if a reasonable estimate can be made. If a rea-
sonable estimate of the asset retirement obligation cannot 
be made in the period the asset retirement obligation is 
incurred, the liability should be recognized when a reason-
able estimate of the asset retirement obligation can be 
made. Upon initial recognition of a liability for an asset 
retirement obligation, an asset retirement cost is capital-
ized by increasing the carrying amount of the related fixed 
asset by the amount of the liability. The asset retirement 
cost is subsequently allocated to expense through depre-
ciation over the remaining useful life of the asset. Over 
time, the liability is accreted to its present value each 
period. Any subsequent revisions to the timing or the 
amount of the original estimate of undiscounted cash 
flows are reflected as an adjustment to the carrying 
amount of the liability and the capitalized amount of the 
related asset retirement cost.

n. Leases
Lessee
Finance lease transactions are capitalized by recognizing 
lease assets and lease obligations in the consolidated 
balance sheet.

All other leases are accounted for as operating leases.

Lessor
Finance leases that are deemed to transfer ownership of 
the leased property to the lessee are recognized as lease 
receivables.

o. Recognition of revenue and expenses
The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries (the 
“Group”) recognize revenue when control of promised 
goods or services is transferred to a customer in an 
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and 
services. The Group provides the following goods and 
services in each reportable segment of Space Business 
and Media Business.

(1) Space Business
The major service under the Space Business is a satellite 
telecommunications service.

The Group provides the satellite telecommunications 
service based on data transmission and reception 
between ground station facilities via communications 
satellites in geostationary orbit. The revenue from this 
service primarily consists of that from a communica-
tion-related service and a broadcasting-related service.

The communication-related service primarily consists 
of sale of telecommunication lines and periphery services. 
As the sale of telecommunication lines, etc. is deemed as 
a transaction in which performance obligations are satis-
fied over time, revenue is recognized as the Group pro-
vides telecommunication lines. Revenue from the 
periphery services is recognized either at the time when 
the delivery of services is completed or as the Group pro-
vides services, depending on the details of each contract. 
The Group receives consideration for these transactions 
generally within the following month after the billing date.

The broadcasting-related service is primarily the provi-
sion of satellite links to broadcasters who operate each 
channel for multichannel pay TV operations. As this ser-
vice is deemed as a transaction in which performance 
obligations are satisfied over time, the Group recognizes 
revenue as it provides satellite links. The Group charges 
consideration for these transactions in one lump sum of 
six to 12 months or in a monthly fee every month, 
depending on the details of each contract. The consider-
ation is received generally within the following month 
after the billing date.

Additionally, certain sale of lines, sale of equipment 
and sale of satellite images are deemed as transactions in 
which the Group acts as an agent in the provision of 
goods and services to the users of these services. The 
revenue is therefore recognized on a net basis at an 
amount of consideration to be received from the users of 
these services less the amount payable to the line provid-
ers, etc.

The registration fee to be received at the start of the 
line contracts is recognized over the estimated average 
contract period.

(2) Media Business
The major service under the Media Business is the pro-
vision of platforms pertaining to broadcasting and 
distribution.

The Group develops broadcasting platforms through 
optical lines, Internet and other various transmission 
lines centering on SKY PerfecTV! satellite broadcasting. 

While providing subscribers with broadcasting and distri-
bution, the Group provides platform services, such as 
customer management service, to broadcasters who 
operate channels on these platforms. Revenue from 
these services mainly consists of subscription fee reve-
nue, basic fee revenue, service charge revenue and 
FTTH business revenue.

As subscription fee revenue and basic fee revenue are 
transactions of which performance obligations are satis-
fied over time, the Group recognizes revenue as it pro-
vides broadcasting services based on terms and 
conditions of the broadcasting agreements concluded 
with subscribers. The consideration for these transactions 
is received generally within the following month after the 
billing date. As subscription fee revenue is a transaction in 
which the Group acts as an agent in the provision of 
goods and services to subscribers, revenue is recognized 
on a net basis at an amount of consideration to be 
received from subscribers less the amount payable to 
program supply business operators.

As service charge revenue is a transaction in which 
performance obligations are satisfied over time, the Group 
recognizes revenue as it provides platform services based 
on contracts with broadcasters. The Group receives con-
sideration for these transactions generally within the fol-
lowing month after the billing date.

As FTTH business revenue is a transaction in which 
performance obligations are satisfied over time, the Group 
recognizes revenue as it provides TV viewing service. The 
Group receives consideration for these transactions gen-
erally within eight months after the provision of the ser-
vice, mainly via collecting agents. The registration fee to 
be received at the start of the FLET’s service contract of 
FTTH business is recognized over the estimated average 
contract period.

p. Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes is computed based on 
the pretax income included in the consolidated state-
ment of income. The asset and liability approach is used 
to recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the 
expected future tax consequences of temporary differ-
ences between the carrying amounts and the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities. Deferred taxes are measured by 
applying currently enacted tax rates to the temporary 
differences.

The group tax sharing system has been adopted from 
the beginning of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024. 
Further details are provided in 10. INCOME TAXES chapter.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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q. Foreign Currency Transactions
All monetary receivables and payables denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated into yen at the exchange 
rates at the consolidated balance sheet date. The foreign 
exchange gains and losses from transactions are recog-
nized in the consolidated statement of income to the 
extent that they are not hedged by forward exchange 
contracts.

r. Foreign Currency Financial Statements
The balance sheet accounts of the consolidated foreign 
subsidiaries are translated into yen at the current 
exchange rate as of the consolidated balance sheet date 
except for equity, which is translated at the historical rate. 
Differences arising from such translation are shown as 
“Foreign currency translation adjustments” under accu-
mulated other comprehensive income in a separate com-
ponent of equity. Revenue and expense accounts of the 
consolidated foreign subsidiaries are translated into yen at 
the average exchange rate.

s. Derivative Financial Instruments
The Companies use derivative financial instruments to 
manage their exposures to fluctuations in foreign currency 
exchange rates. Foreign exchange forward contracts are 
utilized by the Companies to reduce foreign currency 
exchange rate risk. The Companies do not enter into 
derivatives for trading or speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments and foreign currency 
transactions are classified and accounted for as follows:

a) All derivatives are recognized as either assets or 
liabilities and measured at fair value, and gains or losses 
on derivative transactions are recognized in the consoli-
dated statement of income. b) For derivatives used for 
hedging purposes, if such derivatives qualify for hedge 
accounting because of high correlation and effectiveness 
between the hedging instruments and the hedged items, 
gains or losses on derivatives are deferred until maturity 
of the hedged transactions. c) Regarding the interest rate 
swaps that satisfy the requirements for special treatment, 
such special treatment is applied.

Certain assets and liabilities hedged by foreign 
exchange forward contracts are translated at the forward 
exchange contract rates.

Interest rate swaps are utilized to hedge interest rate 
exposures of loans payable. These swaps that qualify for 
hedge accounting are measured at fair value at the consoli-
dated balance sheet date and the unrealized gains or losses 
are deferred until maturity as deferred gain (loss) under 
hedge accounting in a separate component of equity.

t. Per Share Information
Earnings per share are computed by dividing profit attrib-
utable to owners of the parent available to common share-
holders by the weighted-average number of common 
shares outstanding for the period. The weighted-average 
number of shares of common stock for the years ended 
March 31, 2023 and 2024, were 290,416,104 and 
287,561,912, respectively.

Diluted earnings per share of common stock are not 
presented because the Companies had no securities out-
standing that might dilute earnings per share for the years 
ended March 31, 2023 and 2024.

Cash dividends per share presented in the accompany-
ing consolidated statement of income refer to dividends 
applicable to the respective years, including dividends to 
be paid after the end of the year.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATE
Collectability of deferred tax assets
(1) �Amounts recorded on the consolidated financial 

statements
Deferred tax assets as of March 31, 2023 and 2024, con-
sisted of the following:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2023 2024 2024

Deferred tax assets ¥ 10,154 ¥ 7,542 $ 49,814

(2) �Information concerning significant accounting esti-
mates for identified items

The Group recorded deferred tax assets taking into con-
sideration the sufficiency of taxable income before tempo-
rary differences based on earning power and tax planning.

As the collectability of deferred tax assets depends on 
estimates of future taxable income, changes to the pre—
existing conditions or assumptions may affect the 
amounts of deferred tax assets and income taxes - 
deferred in the following fiscal year.

4. �CHANGES IN PRESENTATION
Consolidated Balance Sheet
Prior to April 1, 2023, “Advance payments to suppliers” was 
included in “Other” in the “Current Assets” section. Since 
during this fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, the amount 
increased significantly, such amount is disclosed separately 
in the ” Current Assets” section. The amount included in 
“Other” as of March 31, 2023, was ¥1,247 million.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Prior to April 1, 2023, “Increase in other receivables” in 
the “Operating Activities” section had been disclosed 
separately. Since the amounts decreased and became 
insignificant during this fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, 
such amounts are now included in “Other—net” in the 
“Operating Activities” section. The amount included in 
“Other—net” in the “Operating Activities” section as of 
March 31, 2023, was ¥ (261) million (as of March 31, 
2024, it was ¥ (196) million).

Prior to April 1, 2023, “Increase (decrease) in advance 
payments to suppliers” was included in “Other—net” in 
the “Operating Activities” section. Since during this fiscal 
year ended March 31, 2024, the amount increased signifi-
cantly, such amount is disclosed separately in the 
“Operating Activities” section. The amounts in “Other—
net” in the “Operating Activities” section as of March 31, 
2023, were ¥ 314 million.

5. INVESTMENT SECURITIES
Investment securities as of March 31, 2023 and 2024, 
consisted of the following:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2023 2024 2024
Investment securities:

Equity securities ¥ 4,096 ¥ 13,680 $ 90,355
Other 517 722 4,772

Total ¥ 4,613 ¥ 14,402 $ 95,127

The costs and aggregate fair values of certain investment 
securities as of March 31, 2023 and 2024, were as 
follows:

Millions of yen

2023

Cost Unrealized 
gain

Unrealized 
loss Fair value

Securities classified as:
Available-for-sale

Equity securities ¥ 1,514 ¥ 70 ¥ 379 ¥ 1,205
Total ¥ 1,514 ¥ 70 ¥ 379 ¥ 1,205

Millions of yen

2024

Cost Unrealized 
gain

Unrealized 
loss Fair value

Securities classified as:

Available-for-sale

Equity securities ¥ 2,672 ¥ 10,097 ¥ 97 ¥ 12,672

Total ¥ 2,672 ¥ 10,097 ¥ 97 ¥ 12,672

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2024

Cost Unrealized 
gain

Unrealized 
loss Fair value

Securities classified as:

Available-for-sale

Equity securities $ 17,649 $ 66,694 $ 638 $ 83,705

Total $ 17,649 $ 66,694 $ 638 $ 83,705

The breakdown of available-for-sale securities, which were 
sold in the fiscal year that ended on March 31, 2023, was 
as follows:

Millions of yen

2023
Proceeds Realized gain Realized loss

Available-for-sale:

Equity securities ¥ 970 ¥ 235 ¥ 10

Total ¥ 970 ¥ 235 ¥ 10

There were no available-for-sale securities which were 
sold in the fiscal year that ended on March 31, 2024.

Write-downs of available-for-sale securities for the 
years ended March 31, 2023 and 2024, were ¥224 million 
and ¥870million ($5,744 thousand).

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Changes in defined benefit obligations for the years ended 
March 31, 2023 and 2024, were as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2023 2024 2024

Balance at the beginning of 
the year ¥ 6,134 ¥ 6,081 $ 40,167

Current service cost 428 460 3,035

Interest cost 37 58 386

Actuarial gains (130) (148) (979)

Benefits paid (397) (492) (3,249)

Other 9 — —

Balance at the end of the year ¥ 6,081 ¥ 5,959 $ 39,360

Changes in defined benefit liabilities calculated using the 
simplified method for the years ended March 31, 2023 
and 2024, were as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2023 2024 2024

Balance at the beginning of 
the year ¥ 459 ¥ 464 $ 3,064

Periodic benefit cost 46 44 293

Benefit paid (32) (19) (127)

Other (9) (10) (65)

Balance at the end of the year ¥ 464 ¥ 479 $ 3,165

A reconciliation between the liability recorded in the con-
solidated balance sheet and the balances of defined bene-
fit obligation as of March 31, 2023 and 2024, was as 
follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2023 2024 2024

Unfunded defined  
benefit obligation ¥ 6,545 ¥ 6,438 $ 42,525

Net liability for defined 
benefit obligation ¥ 6,545 ¥ 6,438 $ 42,525

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2023 2024 2024

Liabilities for retirement 
benefits ¥ 6,545 ¥ 6,438 $ 42,525

Net liability for defined 
benefit obligation ¥ 6,545 ¥ 6,438 $ 42,525

Components of net periodic benefit costs for the years 
ended March 31, 2023 and 2024, were as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2023 2024 2024

Service cost ¥ 428 ¥ 460 $ 3,035

Interest cost 37 58 386

Recognized actuarial losses 32 20 134

Amortization of prior 
service cost 38 42 279

Periodic benefit cost under 
the simplified method 46 44 293

Net periodic benefit costs ¥ 581 ¥ 624 $ 4,127

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income 
(before income tax effect) in respect of remeasurement of 
defined retirement benefit plans as of March 31, 2023 and 
2024, were as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2023 2024 2024

Actuarial losses ¥ 161 ¥ 169 $ 1,113

Prior service cost 38 42 279

Total ¥ 199 ¥ 211 $ 1,392

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive 
income (before income tax effect) in respect of remea-
surement of defined retirement benefit plans as of March 
31, 2023 and 2024, were as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2023 2024 2024

Unrecognized actuarial losses ¥   (63) ¥  105 $     695

Unrecognized prior service cost (432) (390) (2,574)

Total ¥ (495) ¥ (285) $ (1,879)

Assumptions used for the years ended March 31, 2023 
and 2024, were set forth as follows: 

2023 2024

Discount rate 1.0% 1.3%

The amounts of contributions to the multi-employer defined 
benefit corporate pension plan were ¥216 million for the 
year ended March 31, 2022 (available information as of 
March 31, 2023), and ¥234 million for the year ended March 
31, 2023 (available information as of March 31, 2024).

6. LONG-TERM DEBT
Long-term debt as of March 31, 2023 and 2024, consisted 
of the following:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2023 2024 2024

Long-term debt:

0.927% yen bonds, due 2025 ¥ 10,000 ¥ 10,000 $   66,050

Government-owned banks, 
maturing serially through 
2031, annual interest rates of 
0.58%–5.44% at March 31, 
2023, and 0.59%–6.13% at 
March 31, 2024 11,515 9,685 63,971

Banks and insurance compa-
nies, maturing serially 
through 2031, annual interest 
rates of 0.58%–5.97% at 
March 31, 2023, and 0.59%–
6.68% at March 31, 2024 52,033 46,124 304,655

Total 73,548 65,809 434,676

Less current portion 10,572 10,793 71,291

Long-term debt, less 
current portion ¥ 62,976 ¥ 55,016 $ 363,385

Annual maturities of long-term debt as of March 31, 2024, 
were as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2024 2024

Years ending March 31:

2025 ¥ 10,793 $   71,291

2026 22,853 150,947

2027 8,449 55,805

2028 4,954 32,722

2029 4,954 32,719

Thereafter 13,806 91,192

Total ¥ 65,809 $ 434,676

Certain domestic subsidiaries of the Company have con-
cluded lines of credit agreements with nine financial insti-
tutions to efficiently manage their working capital. The 
status of these lines of credit as of March 31, 2023 and 
2024, is as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2023 2024 2024

Lines of credit ¥ 13,200 ¥ 13,200 $ 87,186

Credit utilized — — —

Available credit ¥ 13,200 ¥ 13,200 $ 87,186

Assets pledged as collateral as of March 31, 2023 and 
2024, were as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2023 2024 2024

Cash and cash equivalents ¥ 5,373 ¥ 2,978 $   19,667

Accounts receivable–trade 42,704 38,217 252,421

Lease receivables 4,607 4,310 28,465

“Other” under current assets 477 507 3,357

Total ¥ 53,161 ¥ 46,012 $ 303,910

(Note) The assets above are pledged as collateral to secure the borrowings 
under the lines of credit agreements in relation to the maintenance and 
operations of the X-band satellite relay communications business.

Secured obligations as of March 31, 2023 and 2024, were 
as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2023 2024 2024

Current portion of  
long-term loans payable ¥   4,952 ¥   4,952 $   32,706

Long-term loans payable 37,137 32,185 212,586

Total ¥ 42,089 ¥ 37,137 $ 245,292

7. �EMPLOYEES’ BENEFIT PLANS AND 
DIRECTORS’ SEVERANCE INDEMNITIES

Certain consolidated subsidiaries of the Company have 
unfunded defined benefit severance indemnity plans, 
under which substantially all of their employees, other 
than directors, executive officers, and Audit & Supervisory 
Board Members, are entitled, under most circumstances, 
to lump-sum severance indemnities. Severance indemni-
ties are determined based on the level of compensation at 
retirement or earlier termination of employment, the 
length of service, and other factors upon mandatory retire-
ment at the normal retirement age or earlier termination 
of employment.

The benefits for the multi-employer defined benefit 
corporate pension plan are determined based on a stan-
dard remuneration schedule corresponding to the length 
of participation and other factors. However, assets con-
tributed by an employer are not segregated into a sepa-
rate account or restricted to provide benefits only to 
employees of that employer. Therefore, the contributions 
to the multi-employer defined benefit corporate pension 
plan are recognized as paid and accounted for as a compo-
nent of net periodic retirement benefit costs.
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Semiannual interim dividends may also be paid once a 
year upon resolution by the Board of Directors if the arti-
cles of incorporation of the Company so stipulate. The 
Companies Act provides certain limitations on the 
amounts available for dividends or the purchase of trea-
sury stock. The limitation is defined as the amount avail-
able for distribution to the shareholders, but the amount 
of net assets after dividends must be maintained at no 
less than ¥3 million.

b. �Increases/Decreases and Transfer of Common 
Stock, Reserve and Surplus

The Companies Act requires that an amount equal to 10% 
of dividends must be appropriated as a legal reserve (a 
component of retained earnings) or as legal capital surplus 
(a component of capital surplus), depending on the equity 
account charged upon the payment of such dividends, 
until the total aggregate amount of the legal reserve and 
legal capital surplus equals 25% of the common stock. 
Under the Companies Act, the total amount of legal capital 
surplus and the legal reserve may be reversed without 
limitation. The Companies Act also provides that common 
stock, the legal reserve, legal capital surplus, other capital 
surplus and retained earnings can be transferred among 
the accounts within equity under certain conditions upon 
resolution of the shareholders.

c. Treasury Stock and Treasury Stock Acquisition Rights
The Companies Act also provides for companies to pur-
chase treasury stock and dispose of such treasury stock 
by resolution of the Board of Directors. The amount of 
treasury stock purchased cannot exceed the amount avail-
able for distribution to the shareholders, which is deter-
mined by a specific formula.

Under the Companies Act, stock acquisition rights, 
which were previously presented as liabilities, are now 
presented as a separate component of equity.

The Companies Act also provides that companies can 
purchase both treasury stock acquisition rights and trea-
sury stock. Such treasury stock acquisition rights are pre-
sented as a separate component of equity or deducted 
directly from stock acquisition rights.

With the issuance of shares under the restricted stock 
compensation plan, capital surplus increased by ¥18 mil-
lion and treasury stock decreased by ¥76 million for the 
year ended March 31, 2023 and common stock and capital 
surplus each increased by ¥47 million($312 thousand) for 
the year ended March 31, 2024.

10. INCOME TAXES
The Companies are subject to a number of different 
income taxes, which, in the aggregate, resulted in a nor-
mal effective statutory tax rate of approximately 30.6% 
for the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2024.

The tax effects of significant temporary differences and tax 
loss carryforwards that resulted in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities as of March 31, 2023 and 2024, were as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2023 2024 2024

Deferred tax assets:

Unearned revenues ¥  2,681 ¥  4,596 $ 30,360

Liabilities for retirement 
benefits 2,013 1,981 13,087

Depreciation 2,446 1,823 12,039

Asset retirement 
obligations 702 719 4,747

Tax loss carryforwards 
(Note) 602 592 3,911

Deferred gain on 
derivatives under hedge 
accounting 239 141 928

Accounts receivable 141 103 680

Other 3,391 2,952 19,498

Total of tax loss 
carryforwards and 
temporary differences 12,215 12,907 85,250

Less valuation allowance 
for tax loss carryforwards (526) (524) (3,459)

Less valuation allowance 
for temporary differences (1,032) (1,148) (7,582)

Total valuation 
allowance (1,558) (1,672) (11,041)

Deferred tax assets 10,657 11,235 74,209

Deferred tax liabilities:

Valuation difference on 
available-for-sale securities (7) (3,089) (20,401)

Depreciation in  
foreign subsidiaries (1,217) (1,528) (10,095)

Asset retirement 
obligations (214) (193) (1,275)

Other (167) (299) (1,978)

Deferred tax liabilities (1,605) (5,109) (33,749)

Net deferred tax 
assets ¥  9,052 ¥  6,126 $ 40,460

The funded status of the multi-employer defined benefit 
corporate pension plan as of March 31, 2022 (available 
information as of March 31, 2023) and 2023 (available 
information as of March 31, 2024), to which contributions 
were recorded as net periodic retirement benefit costs, 
was as follows:

Millions of yen

2022 2023

Fair value of plan assets ¥ 36,395 ¥ 37,098

Pension benefit obligation recorded 44,812 46,156

Difference ¥  (8,417) ¥  (9,058)

The Companies’ contribution percentages for the 
multi-employer defined benefit corporate pension plan as 
of March 31, 2022 and 2023, were 6.0% and 6.1%, 
respectively.

The difference for the year ended March 31, 2022, 
mainly resulted from prior service costs of ¥9,662 million 
and adjustments of voluntary reserve of ¥1,245 million. 
Prior service cost is amortized over 11 years. The 
Companies recorded special contributions of ¥62 million 
as expenses in the consolidated financial statements in 
the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022.

The difference for the year ended March 31, 2023, 
mainly resulted from prior service costs of ¥9,035 million 
and adjustment of asset valuation of ¥23 million. Prior 
service cost is amortized over 11 years. The Companies 
recorded special contributions of ¥64 million as expenses 
in the consolidated financial statements in the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2023.

The above contribution percentages do not conform to 
the actual percentages applied to the Companies.

8. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS
Asset retirement obligations are mainly recognized on 
restitution obligations associated with real estate rental 
agreements and leasehold establishment contracts.

The amount of asset retirement obligations is com-
puted using discount rates of 0.1% to 2.4% and esti-
mated useful lives of nine to 50 years after acquisition.

Changes in asset retirement obligations for the years 
ended March 31, 2023 and 2024, were as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2023 2024 2024

Balance at the beginning of 
the year ¥ 2,352 ¥ 2,274 $ 15,019

Additional provisions 
associated with the acquisition 
of property and equipment — 17 113

Reconciliation associated with 
passage of time 35 35 232

Reduction associated with 
settlement of asset retirement 
obligations (113) — —

Balance at the end of the year ¥ 2,274 ¥ 2,326 $ 15,364

9. EQUITY
Japanese companies are subject to the Companies Act of 
Japan (the “Companies Act”). The significant provisions in 
the Companies Act that affect financial and accounting 
matters are summarized below:

a. Dividends
Under the Companies Act, companies can pay dividends 
at any time during the fiscal year in addition to the year-
end dividend upon resolution at the shareholders’ meet-
ing. For companies that meet certain criteria including (1) 
having a board of directors, (2) having independent audi-
tors, (3) having an Audit & Supervisory Board, and (4) the 
term of service of the directors being prescribed as one 
year rather than the normal two-year term by its Articles 
of Incorporation, the Board of Directors may declare divi-
dends (except for dividends-in-kind) at any time during the 
fiscal year if the company has prescribed so in its Articles 
of Incorporation. The Company meets all the above criteria 
and, accordingly, the Board of Directors may declare divi-
dends (except for dividends-in-kind) at any time during the 
fiscal year.

The Companies Act permits companies to distribute 
dividends-in-kind (noncash assets) to shareholders subject 
to a certain limitation and additional requirements.
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11. REVENUE
(1) Information on disaggregation of revenue
The Group disaggregates revenue from contracts with 
customers by type of service, based on the contracts 
with customers.

Relations between the disaggregated revenue and seg-
ment operating revenue for the years ended March 31, 
2023 and 2024, were as follows:

Segment Type of major goods 
or services

Amount
Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2023 2024 2024

Space 
Business

Communications ¥   47,914 ¥   50,955 $ 336,558

Broadcasting 7,506 7,322 48,360

Total 55,420 58,277 384,918

Media 
Business

Subscription fees 
(Note 1) 16,701 15,295 101,022

Service charge 15,263 14,814 97,846

Basic fees 10,840 10,260 67,765

FTTH business 8,487 8,769 57,917

Other 14,429 14,458 95,504

Total 65,720 63,596 420,054

Sales to external customers 
(Note 2) ¥ 121,140 ¥ 121,873 $ 804,972

(Note 1) The amount of total consideration received from subscribers less 
the amount payable to program supply business operators is recognized as 
revenue.
(Note 2) Sales to external customers includes net sales of ¥5,503 million 
for the year ended March 31, 2023, and ¥5,483 million ($36,215 thousand) 
for the year ended March 31, 2024 arising from sources other than 
“Revenues from contracts with customers.”

(2) �Basic information to understand revenues from con-
tracts with customers

The information is as described in Note 2. o.

(3) �Basic information to understand revenues from con-
tracts with customers in the current fiscal year and the 
next fiscal year onward

i) Contract balances
Receivables from contract with customers and contract 
liabilities at the beginning and end of the previous fiscal 
year are as follows:

Millions of yen

2023
Receivables from contracts  
with customers:

Balance at beginning of year ¥ 63,494
Balance at end of year 61,045

Contract liabilities:
Balance at beginning of year 10,994
Balance at end of year 19,304

Contract liabilities primarily consist of advance consider-
ation received from customers of communications service 
in the Space business. These contract liabilities are trans-
ferred to revenue at the time when the Group satisfies 
obligations based on relevant contracts. Contract liabilities 
are included in “unearned revenues” and “other” under 
current liabilities and “other” under non-current liabilities 
on the consolidated balance sheet.

Of the amount of revenue recognized during the fiscal 
year, an amount that was included in contract liabilities as 
of the beginning of the consolidated fiscal year was 
¥4,354 million.

Major factors for the changes in contract liabilities 
during the current fiscal year are an increase due to the 
receipt of consideration and a decrease due to recognition 
of revenue. In the current fiscal year, there was no reve-
nue recognized from performance obligations that were 
satisfied in previous fiscal years.

Receivables from contract with customers and contract 
liabilities at the beginning and end of the current fiscal 
year are as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2024 2024
Receivables from contracts  
with customers:

Balance at beginning of year ¥ 61,045 $ 403,201
Balance at end of year 56,556 373,551

Contract liabilities:
Balance at beginning of year 19,304 127,504
Balance at end of year 21,938 144,900

(Note) The expiration of tax loss carryforwards, the related valuation 
allowances and the resulting net deferred tax assets as of March 31, 2023 
and 2024, were as follows:

Millions of yen

2023

1 Year  
or Less

After 
1 Year 

through
2 Years

After 
2 Years 
through
3 Years

After 
3 Years 
through
4 Years

After 
4 Years 
through
5 Years

After 
5 Years Total

Deferred tax assets 
relating to tax loss 
carryforwards (*) ¥ 43 ¥ 44 ¥ 46 ¥ 92 — ¥ 377 ¥ 602

Less valuation 
allowances for tax 
loss carryforwards (43) (44) (46) (92) — (301) (526)

Net deferred tax 
assets relating to 
tax loss 
carryforwards — — — — — 76 76

Millions of yen

2024

1 Year  
or Less

After 
1 Year 

through
2 Years

After 
2 Years 
through
3 Years

After 
3 Years 
through
4 Years

After 
4 Years 
through
5 Years

After 
5 Years Total

Deferred tax assets 
relating to tax loss 
carryforwards (*) ¥ 44 ¥ 46 ¥ 92 — ¥ 28 ¥ 382 ¥ 592

Less valuation 
allowances for tax 
loss carryforwards (44) (46) (92) — (28) (314) (524)

Net deferred tax 
assets relating to 
tax loss 
carryforwards — — — — — 68 68

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2024

1 Year  
or Less

After 
1 Year 

through
2 Years

After 
2 Years 
through
3 Years

After 
3 Years 
through
4 Years

After 
4 Years 
through
5 Years

After 
5 Years Total

Deferred tax assets 
relating to tax loss 
carryforwards (*) $ 292 $ 306 $ 611 — $ 185 $ 2,517 $ 3,911

Less valuation 
allowances for tax 
loss carryforwards (292) (306) (611) — (185) (2,064) (3,458)

Net deferred tax 
assets relating to 
tax loss 
carryforwards — — — — — 453 453

(*) �Tax loss carryforward was calculated using the statutory tax rate.

A reconciliation between the normal effective statutory 
tax rates and the actual effective tax rates reflected in the 
accompanying consolidated statement of income for the 
years ended March 31, 2023 and 2024, is as follows:

2023 2024

Normal effective statutory tax rate 30.6% 30.6%

Expenses not deductible for 
income tax purposes  
(e.g., entertainment expenses) 0.5 0.3

Change in valuation allowance (0.1) 0.6

Amortization of goodwill 0.1 —

Share of profit or loss of 
investments accounted for using 
the equity method 0.1 0.4

Other (0.8) (1.0)

Actual effective tax rate 30.4% 30.9%

The group tax sharing system has been adopted and 
accounting and disclosure of income taxes and local 
income taxes, as well as related tax effect accounting, is 
in accordance with the “Practical Solution on the 
Accounting and Disclosure Under the Group Tax Sharing 
System” (Practical Solution No. 42, August 12, 2021).
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14. �SELLING, GENERAL, AND 
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Major components of selling, general, and administrative 
expenses for the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2024, 
were as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2023 2024 2024

Salaries and wages ¥   5,014 ¥    5,143 $   33,970
Provision for accrued 
bonuses 393 434 2,868
Net periodic benefit costs 353 379 2,506
Advertising expenses 4,701 3,932 25,969
Sales promotion expenses 3,189 2,776 18,335
Sales incentives 322 296 1,956
Subcontracting fees 6,835 7,124 47,053
Research and development 
expenses 459 154 1,014
Other 8,492 8,399 55,478

Total ¥ 29,758 ¥ 28,637 $ 189,149

15. IMPAIRMENT LOSS
The asset groups for which the Company and its subsid-
iaries recognized impairment loss for the years ended 
March 31, 2023 and 2024, were as follows:

Use Location Type of 
assets

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2023 2024 2024
Operational 
assets

Minato-ku, 
Tokyo Software ¥ 74 ¥ — $ —

16. �FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND 
RELATED DISCLOSURES

a. Policy for Financial Instruments
The Companies procure funds through bank loans and 
issuance of bonds. Temporary cash surpluses, if any, are 
invested in low-risk financial assets. Derivatives are not 
used for speculative purposes, but for managing exposure 
to financial risks as described in Note 17.

b. �Nature of, Risks Arising from, and Risk Management 
for Financial Instruments

Accounts receivable and lease receivables are exposed to 
customer credit risk. The Companies manage their credit 
risk from receivables in accordance with internal credit 
control rules, which include monitoring payment due 
dates and balances of customers, and periodic assess-
ment of the credit standing of major customers.

Cash equivalents are mainly bonds, which are exposed 
to credit risk, held for the purpose of investing temporary 
cash surpluses. To mitigate these risks, the Companies 
invest in only highly rated bonds.

Available-for-sale securities are listed stocks, and are 
exposed to market risk. To mitigate the risk, the 
Companies assess fair values and financial conditions of 
the issuer periodically and review status of ownership on 
an on-going basis.

Payment terms of the majority of trade payables, such 
as accounts payable—trade and accounts payable—other, 
are less than one year. These trade payables are exposed 
to liquidity risk related to funding. The Companies manage 
such risk by preparing and executing financing plans that 
maintain a certain amount of liquidity in hand and conclud-
ing lines of credit agreements with respective financial 
institutions.

Bank loans and bonds are used to fund Private Finance 
Initiative (PFI) projects, business investments, and capital 
investments. Of these financial instruments, floating-inter-
est-rate loans are exposed to interest rate risk. Some of 
such loans are hedged using interest rate swaps to fix 
interest on loans.

Derivatives include forward exchange contracts used 
to hedge against the market risk resulting from fluctua-
tions in foreign currency exchange rates related to financ-
ing the purchase of broadcasting rights and capital 
expenditures of telecommunications satellites, etc. and 
interest rate swaps used to hedge against changes in 
interest rates on bank loans.

The Companies execute and manage derivative trans-
actions in accordance with the internal policies that define 
transaction authority. The Companies enter into derivative 
transactions only with financial institutions with a high 
credit rating to minimize credit risk exposure.

Contract liabilities primarily consist of advance consider-
ation received from customers of communications service 
in the Space business. These contract liabilities are trans-
ferred to revenue at the time when the Group satisfies 
obligations based on relevant contracts. Contract liabilities 
are included in “unearned revenues” and “other” under 
current liabilities and “other” under non-current liabilities 
on the consolidated balance sheet.

Of the amount of revenue recognized during the cur-
rent fiscal year, an amount that was included in contract 
liabilities as of the beginning of the consolidated fiscal 
year was ¥4,416 million ($29,170 thousand).

Major factors for the changes in contract liabilities 
during the current fiscal year are an increase due to the 
receipt of consideration and a decrease due to recognition 
of revenue. In the current fiscal year, there was no reve-
nue recognized from performance obligations that were 
satisfied in previous fiscal years.

ii) �Transaction prices allocated to remaining performance 
obligations

Transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance 
obligations is ¥166,448 million at the end of the previous 
fiscal year. These obligations mainly pertain to significant 
long-term contracts in the Space business, and are 
expected to be recognized for the next one to 21 years. 
For the previous fiscal year, the Group has applied the 
practical expedient to the notes on transaction prices 
allocated to the remaining performance obligations, and 
does not disclose contracts with an original expected 
duration of one year or less.

Transaction prices allocated to the remaining perfor-
mance obligations amount to ¥151,632 million 
($1,001,534 thousand) at the end of the current fiscal 
year. These obligations mainly pertain to long-term con-
tracts in the Space business, and are expected to be rec-
ognized for the next one to 20 years.

12. LEASES
a. Finance Lease
As lessor:
Annual maturities of lease receivables are as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2024 2024

Years ending March 31:

2025 ¥   3,330 $   21,996

2026 3,369 22,249

2027 3,243 21,419

2028 3,412 22,539

2029 3,591 23,720

Thereafter 26,187 172,967

Total ¥ 43,132 $ 284,890

b. Operating Lease
As lessee:
The minimum rental commitments under noncancelable 
operating leases as of March 31, 2023 and 2024, were as 
follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2023 2024 2024

Due within one year ¥    861 ¥    803 $   5,306

Due after one year 2,645 1,900 12,548

Total ¥ 3,506 ¥ 2,703 $ 17,854

13. COST OF SERVICES
Write-down of inventories and other assets, which were 
charged to cost of services for the years ended March 31, 
2023 and 2024, amounted to ¥168 million and ¥122 mil-
lion ($808 thousand), respectively.
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Thousands of U.S. dollars

2024
Carrying 
amount Fair value Unrealized 

gain/loss

Accounts receivable $ 379,761

Allowance for  
doubtful accounts (555)

Net $ 379,206 $ 382,142 $ 2,936

Lease receivables 284,890 281,985 (2,905)

Investment in and advances 
to affiliated companies:

Current portion of 
advances 29,039 29,039 —

Investment securities:

Available-for-sale 
securities 83,705 83,705 —

Investment in and advances 
to affiliated companies:

Advances 62,349 62,349 —

Total 839,189 839,220 31

Current portion of  
long-term debt:

Current portion of  
long-term loans payable 71,291 71,350 59

Long-term debt:

Bonds payable 66,050 66,392 342

Long-term loans payable 297,335 300,095 2,760

Total 434,676 437,837 3,161

Derivative transactions $     3,985 $     3,985 $      —

Carrying amount of financial instruments whose fair value 
cannot be reliably determined as of March 31, 2023 and 
carrying amount of equity instruments that do not have a 
quoted market price in an active market as of March 31, 
2024:

Carrying amount

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2023 2024 2024

Investment in affiliated 
companies ¥ 20,244 ¥ 24,542 $ 162,101

Investment in equity 
instruments that do not 
have a quoted market price 
in an active market 2,891 1,008 6,650

Investments in partnerships 517 722 4,772

Total ¥ 23,652 ¥ 26,272 $ 173,523

Maturity analysis for financial assets and securities with 
contractual maturities:

Millions of yen

2024

Due in one 
year or less

Due after one 
year through 

five years

Due after five 
years through 

ten years

Due after ten 
years

Cash equivalents ¥ 63,998 ¥        — ¥        — ¥      —

Accounts receivable 25,561 19,652 12,283 —

Lease receivables 3,330 13,615 20,604 5,583

Investment in and 
advances to affiliated 
companies:

Current portion of 
advances 4,397 — — —

Advances — 9,440 — —

Total ¥ 97,286 ¥ 42,707 ¥ 32,887 ¥ 5,583

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2024

Due in one 
year or less

Due after one 
year through 

five years

Due after five 
years through 

ten years

Due after ten 
years

Cash equivalents $ 422,709 $          — $          — $        —

Accounts receivable 168,831 129,803 81,127 —

Lease receivables 21,996 89,927 136,088 36,879

Investment in and 
advances to affiliated 
companies:

Current portion of 
advances 29,039 — — —

Advances — 62,349 — —

Total $ 642,575 $ 282,079 $ 217,215 $ 36,879

c. Fair Values of Financial Instruments
Fair values of financial instruments are based on quoted 
prices in active markets. If a quoted price is not available, 
other rational valuation techniques are used instead. The 
results of valuations may differ based on assumptions 
used because rational valuation techniques include vari-
able factors. The nominal amounts disclosed in Note 17 
do not reflect market risks regarding derivative 
transactions.

The fair values of “Cash and cash equivalents,” 
“Accounts payable,” “Income taxes payable” and 
“Subscription fees received” are not disclosed because 
they are either cash or are to be settled in a short period 
time, so their fair values approximate their carrying values.

Fair value of financial instruments:

Millions of yen

2023
Carrying 
amount Fair value Unrealized 

gain/loss

Accounts receivable ¥  62,181

Allowance for  
doubtful accounts (88)

Net ¥  62,093 ¥  63,016 ¥ 923

Lease receivables 46,235 46,295 60

Investment in and advances 
to affiliated companies:

Current portion of 
advances 3,630 3,630 —

Investment securities:

Available-for-sale 
securities 1,205 1,205 —

Investment in and advances 
to affiliated companies:

Advances 12,946 12,946 —

Total 126,109 127,092 983

Current portion of  
long-term debt:

Current portion of  
long-term loans payable 10,572 10,588 16

Long-term debt:

Bonds payable 10,000 10,125 125

Long-term loans payable 52,976 53,715 739

Total 73,548 74,428 880

Derivative transactions ¥        (86) ¥        (86) ¥   —

Millions of yen

2024
Carrying 
amount Fair value Unrealized 

gain/loss

Accounts receivable ¥  57,496

Allowance for  
doubtful accounts (84)

Net ¥  57,412 ¥  57,857 ¥ 445

Lease receivables 43,132 42,692 (440)

Investment in and advances 
to affiliated companies:

Current portion of 
advances 4,397 4,397 —

Investment securities:

Available-for-sale 
securities 12,672 12,672 —

Investment in and advances 
to affiliated companies:

Advances 9,440 9,440 —

Total 127,053 127,058 5

Current portion of  
long-term debt:

Current portion of  
long-term loans payable 10,793 10,802 9

Long-term debt:

Bonds payable 10,000 10,052 52

Long-term loans payable 45,016 45,434 418

Total 65,809 66,288 479

Derivative transactions ¥       603 ¥       603 ¥   —

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Thousands of U.S. dollars

2024
Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Accounts 
receivable—trade $ — $ 382,142 $ — $ 382,142

Lease receivables — 281,985 — 281,985

Short-term loans 
receivable — 29,039 — 29,039

Long-term loans 
receivable — 62,349 — 62,349

Total assets — 755,515 — 755,515

Current portion of  
long-term loans payable — 71,350 — 71,350

Bonds payable — 66,392 — 66,392

Long-term loans 
payable — 300,095 — 300,095

Total liabilities $ — $ 437,837 $ — $ 437,837

The following is a description of valuation methodologies 
and inputs used for measurement of the fair value of 
assets and liabilities:

Investment securities
Available-for-sale securities are listed equity securities 
only, and are measured at the quoted market prices. As 
listed equity securities are traded in active markets, their 
fair values are classified as Level 1.

Derivative transactions
Derivative transactions are interest rate swaps and forward 
exchange contracts. As the fair value of derivatives is 
determined based on the prices provided by the financial 
institutions, their fair value is classified as Level 2. Since 
derivatives to which special treatment for interest rate 
swaps is applied are treated together with long-term loans 
payable that are deemed as hedged items, their fair value 
is included in the fair value of long-term loans payable.

Accounts receivable – trade and Lease receivables
As the fair values of receivables with a longer collection 
period are stated at present value, which is determined by 
categorizing receivables by a certain period and discount-
ing them at the rate that incorporates the period to matu-
rity and credit risk, their fair values are classified as Level 
2. The carrying amounts of these receivables with a short 
collection period approximate their fair values.

Short-term loans receivable and Long-term loans receivable
The fair value of short-term loans receivable and long-term 
loans receivable is determined based on the present value 
as calculated by categorizing the loans by a certain period 
and discounting the aggregate value of the principal and 
interest using an interest rate equal to an appropriate 
index such as the yield of government bonds plus the 
credit spread. Their fair value is therefore classified as 
Level 2. These receivables are extended at floating inter-
est rates that reflect market interest rates within a short 
period, and accordingly, their fair values approximate the 
carrying amounts, as the credit standing of borrowers has 
not changed significantly from the time they were 
extended those loans.

Bonds payable
As the fair value of bonds payable is determined based on 
the present value as calculated by discounting the aggre-
gate value of the principal and interest using an interest 
rate for the remaining period and reflecting credit risk of 
the applicable bond, its fair value is classified as Level 2.

Current portion of long-term loans payable and Long-term 
loans payable
Fair values of the current portion of long-term loans pay-
able and long-term loans payable with fixed interest rates 
are determined based on the present value as calculated 
by categorizing the loans by a certain period and discount-
ing the aggregate value of the principal and interest (for 
long-term loans payable that are subject to special treat-
ment for interest rate swaps, the aggregate value of the 
principal and interest using the rate of the interest swaps) 
using an interest rate for similar new loans. Their fair val-
ues are therefore classified as Level 2. The carrying 
amounts of the current portion of long-term loans payable 
and long-term loans payable with floating interest rates 
approximate their fair values because the interest rates of 
the loans are variable, and reflect market interest rates 
and the loans are of short duration. In addition, the credit 
standing of the Company has not varied greatly from the 
time it executed the financing transactions.

Financial instruments categorized by fair value hierarchy:
The fair value of financial instruments is categorized into 
the following three levels, depending on the observability 
and significance of the inputs used in making fair value 
measurements:
Level 1: �Fair values measured by using quoted prices 

(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities.

Level 2: �Fair values measured by using inputs other than 
quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 
observable for the assets or liabilities, either 
directly or indirectly.

Level 3: �Fair values measured by using unobservable 
inputs for the assets or liabilities.

(1) �The financial assets and liabilities measured at the fair 
values in the consolidated balance sheet

Millions of yen

2024
Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Investment securities

Available-for-sale 
securities ¥ 12,672 ¥   — ¥ — ¥ 12,672

Derivative transactions

Currency-related — 872 — 872

Interest rate-related — 13 — 13

Total assets 12,672 885 — 13,557

Derivative transactions

Currency-related — — — —

Interest rate-related — 282 — 282

Total liabilities ¥        — ¥ 282 ¥ — ¥      282

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2024
Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Investment securities

Available-for-sale 
securities $ 83,705 $      — $ — $ 83,705

Derivative transactions

Currency-related — 5,762 — 5,762

Interest rate-related — 86 — 86

Total assets 83,705 5,848 — 89,553

Derivative transactions

Currency-related — — — —

Interest rate-related — 1,863 — 1,863

Total liabilities $        — $ 1,863 $ — $   1,863

(2) �The financial assets and liabilities not measured at the 
fair values in the consolidated balance sheet

Millions of yen

2024
Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Accounts 
receivable—trade ¥ — ¥  57,857 ¥ — ¥  57,857

Lease receivables — 42,692 — 42,692

Short-term loans 
receivable — 4,397 — 4,397

Long-term loans 
receivable — 9,440 — 9,440

Total assets — 114,386 — 114,386

Current portion of 
long-term loans 
payable — 10,802 — 10,802

Bonds payable — 10,052 — 10,052

Long-term loans 
payable — 45,434 — 45,434

Total liabilities ¥ — ¥  66,288 ¥ — ¥  66,288

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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17. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
Certain consolidated subsidiaries of the Company use deriv-
ative financial instruments, which include foreign exchange 
forward contracts and interest rate swap contracts. Foreign 
exchange forward contracts are used for the purpose of 
reducing the risk arising from changes in anticipated cash 
flows of forecasted transactions associated with certain 
payments for overseas broadcasting rights and telecommu-
nications satellites. Interest rate swap contracts are used to 
reduce the risk of increasing interest payments on loans 
due to increases in market rates.

The notional amounts of derivatives that are shown in 
the table below do not represent the amounts exchanged 
by the parties and do not measure exposure to credit or 
market risks of certain consolidated subsidiaries of the 
Company.

Derivative transactions to which hedge accounting was 
not applied as of March 31, 2023, were as follows:

Millions of yen

2023

Contract 
amount

Contract 
amount due 

after one 
year

Fair value Unrealized 
gain/loss

Foreign exchange 
forward contracts

Buying U.S. dollars ¥ 81 ¥ — ¥ 21 ¥ —

Fair values of derivative transactions are measured at the 
quoted price obtained from financial institutions.
There were no derivative transactions to which hedge 
accounting was not applied as of March 31, 2024.

Derivative transactions to which hedge accounting was 
applied as of March 31, 2023 and 2024, were as follows:

Millions of yen

2023

Hedged item Contract 
amount

Contract 
amount due 

after one year
Fair value

Foreign exchange 
forward contracts

Buying U.S. 
dollars

Forecasted 
foreign currency 
transactions ¥   3,726 ¥      630 ¥ (106)

Buying euro
Forecasted 
foreign currency 
transactions 7,954 4,801 421

Interest rate swap

(Fixed rate pay-
ment, floating 
rate receipt)

Long-term debt
18,767 16,559 (420)

Method of hedge 
accounting: 
Special treatment 
(Note 2. s)

Interest rate swap

(Fixed rate pay-
ment, floating 
rate receipt)

Long-term debt
¥ 23,233 ¥ 20,500 ¥    —

Millions of yen

2024

Hedged item Contract 
amount

Contract 
amount due 

after one year
Fair value

Foreign exchange 
forward contracts

Buying U.S. 
dollars

Forecasted 
foreign currency 
transactions ¥      936 ¥        — ¥  115

Buying euro
Forecasted 
foreign currency 
transactions 3,749 — 758

Interest rate swap
(Fixed rate pay-
ment, floating 
rate receipt)

Long-term debt
16,559 14,351 (269)

Method of hedge 
accounting: 
Special treatment 
(Note 2. s)
Interest rate swap

(Fixed rate pay-
ment, floating 
rate receipt)

Long-term debt
¥ 20,500 ¥ 17,767 ¥    —

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2024

Hedged item Contract 
amount

Contract 
amount due 

after one year
Fair value

Foreign exchange 
forward contracts

Buying U.S. 
dollars

Forecasted 
foreign currency 
transactions $     6,185 $          — $     759

Buying euro
Forecasted 
foreign currency 
transactions 24,760 — 5,004

Interest rate swap
(Fixed rate pay-
ment, floating 
rate receipt)

Long-term debt
109,372 94,789 (1,777)

Method of hedge 
accounting: 
Special treatment 
(Note 2. s)
Interest rate swap

(Fixed rate pay-
ment, floating 
rate receipt)

Long-term debt
$ 135,403 $ 117,349 $       —

Fair values of derivative transactions are measured at the 
quoted price obtained from financial institutions.

18. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Other comprehensive income for the years ended March 
31, 2023 and 2024, consisted of the following:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2023 2024 2024
Other comprehensive income:

Unrealized (loss) gain on 
available-for-sale securities

(Losses) gains arising during 
the year ¥   (172) ¥  9,473 $ 62,569
Reclassification 
adjustments to profit or loss 4 851 5,622
Amount before income tax 
effect (168) 10,324 68,191

Income tax effect 46 (3,168) (20,926)
Total (122) 7,156 47,265

Deferred gain on derivatives 
under hedge accounting

Gains arising during the year 793 1,811 11,963
Reclassification 
adjustments to profit or loss 20 18 119
Amounts transferred to the 
initial carrying amounts of 
hedged items (619) (1,102) (7,278)
Amount before income tax 
effect 194 727 4,804

Income tax effect (60) (224) (1,471)
Total 134 503 3,333

Foreign currency translation 
adjustments 2,688 215 1,418

Remeasurement of defined 
retirement benefit plans

Gains arising during the year 130 148 979
Reclassification 
adjustments to profit or loss 69 63 413
Amount before income tax 
effect 199 211 1,392

Income tax effect (61) (64) (426)
Total 138 147 966

Share of other comprehensive 
income in affiliated companies 
accounted for using the equity 
method

Gains arising during the year 4 55 360
Reclassification 
adjustments to profit or loss — (2) (13)
Amounts transferred to the 
initial carrying amounts of 
hedged items (12) (8) (51)

Total (8) 45 296
Total other comprehensive income ¥ 2,830 ¥  8,066 $ 53,278
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19. RELATED-PARTY DISCLOSURES
Year Ended March 31, 2023
Transactions of the Companies with affiliated companies 
for the year ended March 31, 2023, were as follows:

Millions of yen

Correction of loans receivable ¥ 3,241

Receipt of interest ¥    702

The balances due to or from the Companies with affiliated 
companies at March 31, 2023, were as follows:

Millions of yen

Current portion of long-term 
loans receivable ¥   3,630

Long-term loans receivable ¥ 12,946

Current assets—other ¥      177

Year Ended March 31, 2024
Transactions of the Companies with affiliated companies 
for the year ended March 31, 2024, were as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Correction of loans receivable ¥ 3,848 $ 25,413

Receipt of interest ¥ 1,185 $   7,828

The balances due to or from the Companies with affiliated 
companies at March 31, 2024, were as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Current portion of long-term 
loans receivable ¥ 4,397 $ 29,039

Long-term loans receivable ¥ 9,440 $ 62,349

Current assets—other ¥    168 $   1,113

20. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Companies are required to report financial and 
descriptive information about their reportable segments. 
Reportable segments are operating segments or aggrega-
tions of operating segments that meet specified criteria. 
Operating segments are components of an entity about 
which separate financial information is available, and for 
which such information is evaluated regularly by the chief 
operating decision-maker in deciding how to allocate 
resources and in assessing performance. Generally, seg-
ment information is required to be reported on the same 
basis as is used internally for evaluating operating seg-
ment performance and deciding how to allocate resources 
to operating segments.

1. Description of reportable segments
The Company’s reportable segments are those for which 
separate financial information is available and regular 
evaluation by the Company’s management is being per-
formed in order to decide how resources are allocated 
among the Companies. The Companies have established 
service divisions in SKY Perfect JSAT Corporation, which 
is a core operating consolidated subsidiary of the 
Company, and such service divisions design the strate-
gies for their services and deploy operating activities. 
The Company consists of service segments based on 
the operating divisions of SKY Perfect JSAT Corporation, 
which include the Space Business and the Media 
Business as reportable segments. The Space Business 
offers satellite circuits to the broadcasting businesses, 
and satellite communication services, such as data com-
munication and mobile communication, to the govern-
ment, public entities, and corporations. The Media 
Business offers platform services, such as customer 
management activities, to the broadcasting businesses, 
and delivers broadcasting and streaming services via 
communication satellites and fiber-optic networks.

2. �Methods of measurement for the amounts of sales, 
profit (loss), assets, liabilities, and other items for 
each reportable segment

The accounting policies of each reportable segment are 
consistent with those disclosed in Note 2,“Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies.”

Intersegment sales or transfers are determined based 
on market prices.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3. �Information about sales, profit, assets, liabilities, 
and other items was as follows:

Millions of yen

2023
Space 

Business
Media 

Business
Reconciliations

(Note 1)
Consolidated

(Note 2)

Sales to external 
customers ¥  55,420 ¥ 65,720 ¥         — ¥ 121,140

Intersegment sales or 
transfers 6,734 3,013 (9,747) —

Total 62,154 68,733 (9,747) 121,140

Operating profit ¥  19,151 ¥   3,863 ¥      (690) ¥   22,324

Segment profit 
(profit attributable to 
owners of the parent) 13,516 2,780 (486) 15,810

Segment assets 245,808 41,295 111,952 399,055

Other:

Depreciation and 
amortization 13,866 6,969 330 21,165

Amortization of 
goodwill 67 — — 67

Investment in 
affiliated companies 
accounted for using 
the equity method 16,161 4,083 — 20,244

Increase in property 
and equipment and 
intangible assets 14,714 1,936 105 16,755

Note 1. Reconciliation is as follows:
(1) �Segment profit of ¥(486) million consists of ¥1 million of 

intersegment sales and ¥(487) million of corporate profit (loss) 
not allocated to each reportable segment. Corporate profit 
(loss) mainly consists of general and administrative expenses, 
non-operating income (loss) and tax expenses that are not 
attributable to any segment.

(2) �Segment assets of ¥111,952 million consist of ¥(304) million of 
intersegment assets and ¥112,256 million of corporate assets 
not allocated to each reportable segment. Corporate assets 
mainly consist of cash and cash equivalents and assets related 
to administrative divisions.

(3) �Depreciation and amortization of ¥330 million represents 
depreciation of corporate assets not allocated to each reportable 
segment.

(4) �An increase in property and equipment and intangible assets of 
¥105 million represents increases in property and equipment 
and intangible assets not allocated to each reportable segment.

Note 2. �Segment profit is reconciled with profit attributable to owners of 
the parent in the consolidated statement of income.

Millions of yen

2024
Space 

Business
Media 

Business
Reconciliations

(Note 1)
Consolidated

(Note 2)

Sales to external 
customers ¥  58,277 ¥ 63,596 ¥         — ¥ 121,873

Intersegment sales or 
transfers 6,473 2,933 (9,406) —

Total 64,750 66,529 (9,406) 121,873

Operating profit ¥  22,799 ¥   4,402 ¥      (655) ¥   26,546

Segment profit  
(profit attributable to 
owners of the parent) 15,532 2,548 (341) 17,739

Segment assets 249,690 38,399 117,322 405,411

Other:

Depreciation and 
amortization 13,046 6,947 239 20,232

Amortization of 
goodwill — — — —

Investment in affili-
ated companies 
accounted for using 
the equity method 20,202 4,340 — 24,542

Increase in property 
and equipment and 
intangible assets 12,217 3,991 218 16,426
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Thousands of U.S. dollars

2024
Space 

Business
Media 

Business
Reconciliations

(Note 1)
Consolidated

(Note 2)

Sales to external 
customers $   384,918 $  420,054 $         — $   804,972

Intersegment sales or 
transfers 42,757 19,369 (62,126) —

Total 427,675 439,423 (62,126) 804,972

Operating profit $   150,585 $    29,080 $   (4,329) $   175,336

Segment profit  
(profit attributable to 
owners of the parent) 102,591 16,832 (2,256) 117,167

Segment assets 1,649,208 253,628 774,912 2,677,748

Other:

Depreciation and 
amortization 86,172 45,883 1,575 133,630

Amortization of 
goodwill — — — —

Investment in affili-
ated companies 
accounted for using 
the equity method 133,436 28,665 — 162,101

Increase in property 
and equipment and 
intangible assets 80,693 26,358 1,442 108,493

Note 1. Reconciliation is as follows:
(1) �Segment profit of ¥(341) million ($(2,256) thousand) consists of 

¥78 million ($517 thousand) of intersegment sales and ¥(419) 
million ($(2,773) thousand) of corporate profit (loss) not allocated 
to each reportable segment. Corporate profit (loss) mainly 
consists of general and administrative expenses, non-operating 
income (loss) and tax expenses that are not attributable to any 
segment.

(2) �Segment assets of ¥117,322 million ($774,912 thousand) 
consist of ¥(265) million ($(1,750) thousand) of intersegment 
assets and ¥117,587 million ($776,662 thousand) of corporate 
assets not allocated to each reportable segment. Corporate 
assets mainly consist of cash and cash equivalents and assets 
related to administrative divisions.

(3) �Depreciation and amortization of ¥239 million ($1,575 thousand) 
represents depreciation of corporate assets not allocated to 
each reportable segment.

(4) �An increase in property and equipment and intangible assets of 
¥218 million ($1,442 thousand) represents increases in property 
and equipment and intangible assets not allocated to each 
reportable segment.

Note 2. �Segment profit is reconciled with profit attributable to owners of 
the parent in the consolidated statement of income.

Related information:
1. Information about products and services
Information about products and services is omitted as the 
same information is disclosed in “Information about sales, 
profit, assets, liabilities and other items” above.

2. Information about geographical areas
(1) Sales
Under Japanese accounting standards, the Companies are 
not required to disclose geographical segment information 
about sales because sales to external customers in Japan 
represent more than 90% of that of the Companies for 
the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023.

Information about geographical areas for the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2024, was as follows:

Millions of yen

2024
In Japan External Consolidated

Sales ¥ 108,262 ¥ 13,611 ¥ 121,873

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2024
In Japan External Consolidated

Sales $ 715,074 $ 89,898 $ 804,972

(2) Property and equipment
Under Japanese accounting standards, the Companies are 
not required to disclose geographical segment information 
about property and equipment because property and 
equipment located in Japan represented more than 90% 
of that of the Companies as of March 31, 2023 and 2024.

3. Information about major customers
Under Japanese accounting standards, the Companies are 
not required to disclose major customer information 
because sales to any one external customer do not repre-
sent more than 10% of the sales of the Companies for 
the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2024.

Information about impairment losses on long-lived 
assets by reportable segment:
Information about impairment losses as of March 31, 
2023 and 2024, was as follows:

Millions of yen

2023
Space 

Business
Media 

Business Reconciliations Consolidated

Impairment losses ¥ — ¥ 74 ¥ — ¥ 74

No Impairment losses were recognized for the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2024.

Information about goodwill and its amortization:
Information about goodwill and its amortization as of 
March 31, 2023 and 2024, was as follows:

Millions of yen

2023
Space 

Business
Media 

Business Reconciliations Consolidated

Amortization of 
goodwill ¥ 67 ¥ — ¥ — ¥ 67

Goodwill as of  
March 31, 2023 — — — —

No amortization of goodwill was recognized for the fiscal 
year ended March 31, 2024.

Information about recognized bargain purchase gain 
(negative goodwill) by reportable segment:
There is no applicable information for the fiscal years 
ended March 31, 2023 and 2024.

21. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Incorporation-type company split
SKY Perfect JSAT Corporation established SKY Perfect 
Pictures Inc. through an incorporation-type company split 
on April 1, 2024, based on a resolution at SKY Perfect 
JSAT Corporation’s Board of Directors meeting held on 
March 5, 2024. SKY Perfect Pictures Inc. took over the 
rights and responsibilities related to the “Global IP 
(Intellectual Property) Business” (planning, production 
investment, and sales of audio-visual content with a focus 
on animation as well as its peripheral businesses).

(1) Purpose
In 2020, as one of the next major strategies of the Media 
Business Unit, SKY Perfect JSAT Corporation launched 
the “Global IP (Intellectual Property) Business” to develop 
business globally beyond the framework of the “SKY 
PerfecTV!” pay TV broadcast service. SKY Perfect JSAT 
Corporation has continued said activities since then, and 
going forward, it will turn this business into a business 
company with ITOCHU Corporation as a partner, with the 
aim of launching animation production projects and 
expanding domestically and internationally.

(2) Overview of the company split

Details of the 
targeted business

Planning, Production investment, and 
Sales of audio-visual content with a 
focus on animation as well as its 
peripheral businesses

Legal method for 
company split

Incorporation-type company split with 
SKY Perfect JSAT Corporation as the 
splitting company and SKY Perfect 
Pictures Inc. as the successor company

Name of newly 
established company

SKY Perfect Pictures Inc.

Timing of company 
split

April 1, 2024

Amount of capital, 
etc.

¥2.0 billion (amount of capital and 
capital surplus)

Overview of 
accounting 
treatment to be 
implemented

It will be treated as a transaction under 
common control, based on the 
“Accounting Standard for Business 
Combinations” and the 
“Implementation Guidance on 
Accounting Standard for Business 
Combinations and Accounting Standard 
for Business Divestitures”

(3) �The number of shares of the company incorporated in 
the incorporation-type split to be allotted to the com-
pany splitting in the incorporation-type split

Common stock 40,000 shares

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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8-1, Akasaka 1-chome, Minato-ku, Tokyo 107-0052, Japan
https://www.skyperfectjsat.space/en/
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